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The body of James Earl Ray, 
convicted assassin of Dr. Mar­
tin Luther King Jr., was to be 
cremated Sunday in Nashville, 
and a memorial service is ten­
tatively planned in about three 
weeks in Nashville.

News reports on Sunday er­
roneously said the funeral 
might be held at a church in 
Memphis, said Ray’s brother, 
Jerry Ray of Smartt, Tenn.

Ray, who pleaded guilty to 
the 1968 assassination of the 
civil rights leader, died Thurs­
day in a Nashville hospital 
from liver disease. He was 70.

After pleading guilty, Ray 
spent the past 29 years main­
taining his innocence. He wan­
ted a new trial and counted 
King’s family and associates 
among his supporters.

Jerry Ray said Rev. James 
Lawson, a King friend qnd for­
mer pastor of Centenary 
United Methodist Church in 
Memphis, has been invited to 
conduct the services. Lawson 
could not be reached at his Cal­
ifornia home Sunday.

It Was Lawson who brought 
King to Memphis on behalf of 
striking sanitation workers in 
1968. Lawson had also become 
friends with Ray in prison, offi­
ciating at his marriage in 1978.

King’s family and friends 
will be invited to the services, 
but Ray said it will be about 
three weeks before everyone 
can arrange their schedules.

Ray said he will pick up his 
brother’s ashes today and take 
the ashes to Ireland and scatter 
them, as Ray had requested.
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Power brokers in Shelby 
County’s Democratic and Re­
publican parties are joining 
forces to help oust controver­
sial Criminal Court Judge Joe 
Brown.

John Farris, treasurer and 
former chairman of the local 
Democratic Party, and Lewis 
Donelson, former chairman of 
the local Republican Party, will 
serve as co-chairmen of the 
committee to elect prosecutor 
Terry Harris to Brown’s judi­
cial post in the August county 
general election. Farris and 
Donelson will share the chair­
manship with Brinkley Gaia, a 
Republican activist and wife of 
Republican political consultant 
and analyst Gerald Gaia.

Brown, 50, was elected to the 
newly created Division 9 
judgeship in 1990 with 39 per­
cent of the vote in a three-way 
race.

Since his election Brown has 
meted out controversial sen­
tences to criminals, been fea­
tured and criticized for those 
sentences on national news 
programs such as ABC’s 
Nightline and been removed 
from the James Earl Ray case 
because an appeals court said 
he “demonstrated the appear­
ance of bias” in overseeing 
Ray’s claims that he was 
framed for Dr. Martin Luther 
King Jr.’s 1968 murder.

In a rare ruling, the Tennes­
see Court of Criminal Appeals 
last month ordered Brown to be 
“prohibited from participating 
in any further proceedings re­
garding James Earl Ray.”

The ruling cited statements 
by Brown that alleged political

4iF0!tives by prosecutors and 
’seemed to favor Ray’s efforts to

died last week in Nash- 
but the fallout from his 
is what has made Brown 

iffl^o. 1 target for a judicial 
• ^ by the Republican Par- 

HT^nral R epublicans this year 
* ^iled t0 institute par-

Ocial primaries in 
v. a move that

Democrats argued against.
Brown said the reason some 

people want him off the bench 
is because he has stepped on 
some toes in the name of what 
he calls fairness and justice. 
He said his opposition to the 
privatization of prisons and 
prison labor — something he 
called “nothing more than slav­
ery” — also is behind some of 
the discontent with him.

“I think what you’re looking 
into is the people who get on 
the talk show and talk about 
how doomed the presidency is 
and then turn around and he
has a 60 percent approval rat­
ing,” Brown said. “There’s a lot 
of noise with very little sub­
stance. What Joe Brown has 
been about for eight years is 
fine tuning the justice system 
so it does what it’s supposed to 
do. I have had polling. I have a 
very high approval rating.

“Here in Memphis you have 
a small group of people not 
used to doing things a little dif­
ferently.”

Farris, who has filed as a 
candidate for the state Demo­
cratic Party Executive Com­
mittee, said party affiliations

have nothing to do with want­
ing Brown off the bench.

“I think overall my philoso­
phy on the judiciary is more 
conservative than Judge 
Brown,” Farris said. “The local 
party is not nominating candi­
dates, we’re not holding a pri­
mary for the judges. The 
judges are all running as inde­
pendents. Terry Harris is, to 
my knowledge, not running as 
a Republican. I don’t know 
what his past voting record is.”

Harris, 37, is an assistant dis­
trict attorney in Atty. Gen. Bill 
Gibbons’s office. Gibbons, who
was appointed by Gov. Don 
Sundquist in 1996, last year ap­
pointed Harris head of a new, 
multiagency Anti-Gang Team.

Mike Carpenter, Harris’s 
campaign coordinator, said the 
race will “be aggressive in the 
sense that we’re going to work 
the long hours and do all we 
need to do to make sure Terry 
wins.”

Harris is expected to receive 
the GOP endorsement.

Terry Joe
Harris Brown FBI/ DOJ
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NASHVILLE (AP) — The 
brother of James Earl Ray, the 
confessed assassin of Martin 
Luther King Jr., says Ray’s fu­
neral will be held Thursday.

Jerry Ray said Monday night 
the funeral will be at the Met­
ropolitan Interdenominational 
Church in Nashville at 10 a.m.

He said William Pepper, his 
brother’s lawyer, would pro­
vide other information about 
the funeral today.

James Earl Ray died of liver 
disease last month. His body

was cremated.
Though he pleaded guilty to 

killing King and avoided the 
death penalty, Ray recanted 
and managed for almost 30 
years to keep his claims of in­
nocence before the public, 
largely through court appeals 
and other legal petitions.

Jerry Ray said his brother’s 
ashes will be at the funeral, 
and will eventually be flown to 
Ireland, where his ancestors 
were from.
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endorse Ray’s claim of 
innocence

NASHVILLE (AP) — A minister at 
one of two black churches that declined 
to hold a memorial service for James 
Earl Ray said some of his members 
thought doing so would endorse Ray’s 
claims of innocence in the murder of 
Dr. Martin Luther King Jr.

^ev. James Thomas of Jefferson 
Strpet Missionary Baptist Church in 
Nashville said he’d agreed last week to 
hold the service at his church.

“Then I began to feel the spirit of this 
congregation,” Thomas said.

First Baptist Church Capitol Hill, 
which played a historic role in the civil 
rights movement of the 1960s, also de­
clined to host the Ray memorial.

But Rev. Edwin Sanders, pastor of 
Metropolitan Interdenominational 
Church that will host the memorial 
service for Ray at 10 this morning, said 
the service fits his predominantly black 
congregation’s mission of “reconcilia­
tion and inclusiveness.”

“We acknowledge him (Ray) as a 
child of God,” Sanders said. “His guilt 
or innocence is something that, at this 
point, God knows.”

The funeral will be conducted by 
James Lawson, a pioneer in the civil 
rights movement and a longtime 
defender of Ray.___ 

Lawson, who helped organize the 
lunch-counter sit-ins in Nashville in 
1960, said Ray had asked him several 
times to conduct his funeral.

“This will not be a traditional funeral, 
and my message will not be a tradi­
tional message,” Lawson said. “It will 
be appropriate for the occasion.”

Ray, 70, died April 23 of liver failure 
caused by chronic hepatitis. He was 
serving a 99-year sentence for killing 
King in Memphis in 1968.

Lawson, now a United Methodist min­
ister in Los Angeles, has maintained for 
years that Ray was “set up” to take the 
blame for King’s death.
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Though he pleaded guilty to killing 
King and avoided the death penalty, 
Ray almost immediately recanted and 
spent nearly three decades trying to 
gain a trial.

Jerry Ray said his brother’s ashes 
will be at the memorial service. They 
will eventually be flown to Ireland, 
home of their ancestors.

King’s relatives, who supported 
James Earl Ray’s efforts for a trial, 
have been invited to the funeral. They 
will be represented by Isaac Farris Jr., 
nephew of the slain civil rights leader 
and chief operating officer at the King 
Center.

FBI/ DOJ
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NASHVILLE (AP) - Jerry 
Ray, James Earl Ray’s brother, 
has filed a claim in Davidson 
County Probate Court for the 
rifle prosecutors believe James 
Ray used to kill Martin Luther 
King Jr.

Jerry Ray, the executor of his 
older brother’s estate, also filed 
ah accounting of the convicted 
assassin’s assets, estimated at 
$223 000.

Of that, $200,000 is Jerry

Ray’s estimated value of the 
rifle.

Other items include a transis­
tor radio that Jerry Ray values 
at $10,000 or more, binoculars 
and clothing.

All of the assets, except for 
some clothing, are in the pos­
session of the Shelby County 
Criminal Court clerk in Mem­
phis.

James Earl Ray died April 23 
in Nashville of liver disease 
while serving a 99-year prison 
sentence for King’s 1968 slay­
ing in Memphis.

Jerry Ray’s request for the 
rifle and other items55 that his 
brother allegedly left behind at 
the crime scene appears to con­
flict with a 1994 state law, 
which allows local prosecutors 
to turn evidence in “historical­
ly significant” cases over to 
museums.

Shelby County Dist. Atty. Bill 
Gibbons said last month he 
plans to transfer the rifle and 
other items linked to James 
Earl Ray to the National Civil 
Rights Museum in Memphis 
once a recently announced fed­
eral investigation is over.
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John Ray says he can
solve King case

“I don't care about James Earl Ray -r— he's 
dead. I don’t care about the King family. I'm 
just interested in the money. ”
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ST. LOUIS — For 30 years 
he denied it.

But John Ray now says gov­
ernment investigators were 
right when they accused him 
of helping brother James Earl 
Ray make a daring prison es­
cape in 1967 that set the stage 
for Dr. Martin Luther King 
Jr.’s assassination a year lat­
er.

John Ray says he’ll tell 
more about King’s murder — 
for a price.

“I can solve the whole case 
right now,” said Ray, who 
says he’s willing to talk now 
that brother James is dead. 
But he said the government 
may need to give him a “six- 
figure” payment to tell what 
he knows.

Breaking ranks with the 
Ray family’s longstanding 
claim that James was framed, 
John Ray says James not only 
was involved in King’s assas-

sination but also a second ra­
cial murder he would not dis­
cuss.

“I don’t care about James 
Earl Ray — he’s dead. I don’t 
care about the King family,” 
John Ray said, explaining his 
motives for talking now. “I’m 
just interested in the money.”

Ray is pinning his hopes on 
a new investigation by Atty. 
Gen. Janet Reno into King’s 
April 4, 1968, sniper slaying 
in Memphis. Reno announced 
last week that she’s opening a 
limited investigation into two 
conspiracy claims — neither 
of which involves John Ray — 
but said investigators would 
go wherever the facts lead.

But if Ray is banking that 
his story will be taken at face 
value, he may be in for more 
than he bargained. Because

when it comes to credibility 
gaps, John Ray is a canyon.

Now 65 and retired from a 
life of crime, Ray spent much 
of his adult life behind bars 
for a variety of robbery and 
theft convictions.

Government lawyers con­
sidered perjury charges 
against Ray in 1978 after he 
testified to a congressional 
committee that he knew noth­
ing about the assassination or 
James’s prison escape. Yet 
many who’ve studied the as­
sassination believe that if an­
yone knows secrets for why 
King was murdered, it’s John 
Ray. “John Ray probably is 
the last living soul in this 
country that knows what hap­
pened to Martin Luther 
King,” said Conrad ‘Pete’ 
Baetz, an investigator for the

FBI/DOJ



John Ray points to where he .says he hid brother James Earl in East St. Louis, III., after James s 
1967 prison escape. John says he’ll solve the King assassination case if the money s right.

House Select Committee on 
Assassinations’ two-year re­
view of King’s murder in 
1977-78. “If he gives up the 
information — and he’s truth­
ful — it will bring closure.”

HSCA concluded in 1979 
that, despite distracting 
claims of high-level govern­
ment conspiracies, James 
Earl Ray shot King. The com­
mittee believed there was a 
conspiracy involving Ray’s 
family and an attempt to col­
lect a $50,000 bounty offered 
by two racist St. Louis busi-

Shelby County Dist. Atty. 
Gen. Bill Gibbons last week 
said the “unanswered ques­
tions” Reno should explore 
are “whether or not James 
Earl Ray’s brothers were also 
involved in any way.”

Although there’s good 
reason to be skeptical of John 
Ray’s accounts, the Justice 
Department should consider 
his comments in its investiga­
tion, said historian David J.

Please see RAY, Page A12

Garrow, author of the Pulitzer 
prize-winning biography of 
King who has closely followed 
developments in the assassina­
tion case. “This could be a sig­
nificant step forward because 
this is the first time either of 
the two brothers admit partici­
pating with James in a crime in 
that period,” Garrow said.

For years, brothers John and 
Jerry Ray claimed they had no 
contact with James between 
the time of his escape and the 
assassination, although Jerry 
Ray later admitted meeting 
with James on matters not of a 
criminal nature.

Still, it’s unclear if the Jus­
tice Department would explore 
John Ray’s claims. A spokes­
man said Friday that Barry 
Kowalski, lead attorney in the 
King investigation, was leaving 
town for several days and was 
unavailable for comment.

As for Ray, he still denies 
involvement in King’s murder. 
But he says he will sign an 
affidavit detailing his knowl­
edge of the assassination if the 
government would first place 
money in escrow for him. He 
said he’d also take a polygraph 
test. Records long held by the 
government also may corrobo­
rate his account, he said. “She 
(Reno) knows I’m not telling no 
windbag story.”

A focal point of John Ray’s 
account lies across the Mis­
sissippi River from his St. 

Louis home, in the decaying 
river town of East St. Louis, Ill.

His brother James hid in 
East St. Louis for several days 
after his escape from the Mis­
souri State Penitentiary in Jef­
ferson City, Ray told a reporter 
this month. “That’s where he 
got some money and a gun,” he 
said, pointing to a vacant lot 
overgrown with weeds.

In 1967, the property was the 
site of a mob-run tavern, with a 
two-story pool hall and apart­
ment building in the back. ,

James Ray maintained he 
was alone when he made his 
April 23,1967, escape from Jeff 
City, where he was serving 20 
years for robbery. In testimony 
before Congress and in a book 
he later authored, he claimed 
that after his escape, he wan­
dered for several days along 
railroad tracks before hopping 
a freight train to St. Louis.

“He wasn’t walking down no 
railroad tracks,” John Ray in­
sists. “He was right here.”

John Ray told his story over 
the course of an eight-hour in­
terview this month. Unlike his 
brother Jerry Ray, 62, who has 
kept a dial-a-quote media pres­
ence throughout the years, 
John Ray is more private and 
seldom heard from.



- He is* an eccentric man who 
alternately calls himself “Sher­
iff Shamrock” and “Bloody 
Jack.” He sports a baseball cap 
featuring a gold law enforce­
ment-style star and the words 
“Sheriff of the North Pole.” 

With a speech impediment 
similar to the voice of cartoon 
character Elmer Fudd, he 
spoke of his family’s long-held 
racial views and his own per­
sonal struggles, including a ca­
reer in bank robbery and a dis­
ability brought on by diabetes 
and his two partially ampu­
tated feet.

He said he is coming forward 
now because, with James’s 
death in April from liver dis­
ease, there is nothing left to 
protect.

“Once this comes out, it will 
direct a path away from the 
FBI to another source,” he 
said, dismissing conspiracy

theories of 
government 
involvement 
in King’s 
death. “This 
would prevent 
Jesse Jackson 
. . . and the 
King family 
from blaming 
the FBI.”

Ray said he 
had 
helped his

James Earl 
Ray

brother try to escape at least a 
couple times. Once, he said, he 
crawled up near the prison 
walls at Jeff City and buried a 
pair of civilian pants and a 
shirt for James, but his brother 
didn’t make it out. Records 
show Ray made an unsuccess­
ful escape attempt in 1966.

In the escape that succeeded, 
John said James alerted him 
with a letter written in code. 
John then visited James in 
prison the day before the es­
cape. Prison records verified 
that meeting.

Armed with documentation 
of the meeting and the fact that 
James Ray used John’s Social 
Security card and alias imme­
diately after his escape, HSCA 
lawyers tried to show that 
James Ray’s brothers helped 
him and kept in contact in the 
months before King’s murder.

Yet John Ray testified in 
1978 he didn’t learn of James’s 
escape until after King’s mur­
der a year later, when he “read 
about it in the paper.” He told 
the FBI weeks after King’s 
murder that he hadn’t seen 
James in years.

RayBw says he drove to 
Jeff Ci^in his Plymouth Val­
iant with criminal associate 
Jack ‘Catman’ Gawron, now de­
ceased. “He said he had the 
guard paid off. Sb I went down 
there,” he said.

Ray said he and Gawron 
picked up James almost imme­
diately after he burst from the 
back of a truck traveling be­
tween prison facilities. Author­
ities believe James hid in a 
large bread box, an account he 
eventually confirmed after 
maintaining for years that he 
had scaled the wall. James Ray 
spent his first night loose at 
Gawron’s house, sipping high­
balls, before John took him 
across the river to see criminal 
associates who could “put some 
money in brother James’s 
pocket,” John Ray said.

Ray claims James took a sec­
ond-story room behind the Pad­
dock Lounge, an East St. Louis 
tavern run by legendary 
mobster Frank ‘Buster’ Wort- 
man. Making connections to 
hoodlums with low-rung links

to Wortman’s organization, 
James lay low for awhile in 
Chicago before returning to 
cash in on his East St. Louis 
opportunities, John said.

Records show James worked 
several weeks as a dishwasher­
in Chicago before returning 
briefly to the St. Louis area, 
then heading on a puzzling trip 
to Canada the summer of 1967.

Authorities have theorized 
that James and John Ray were 
responsible for an unsolved 
bank robbery in July 1967 in 
nearby Alton, Ill., that netted 
$27,000. Those funds helped fi­
nance James’s travels to Cana­
da, Mexico and the American 
South, authorities believe.

Although he was convicted of 
a similar bank robbery in 1970 
and admitted to a reporter he 
did in fact pull a bank job in 
1980 for which he was acquit­
ted, John Ray still denies rob­
bing the Alton bank.

Instead, Ray contends, 
James went to Canada to pull a 
“jewelry heist” and was going 
to head overseas but returned 
to the United States when he 
caught wind of another job: 
killing King. “That’s the fork in 
the road. That’s where the con­
spiracy came in,” John Ray 
said. “This is where everything 
breaks open.”

Ray said his brother may 
have had multiple motives for 
killing King. Authorities have 
long held he was motivated by 
racism and low self-esteem.

numittmg tj^Jpeither he nor 
his brother“fond of” 
blacks, John said racism was 
less a motive than James’s 
“general animosity toward any­
thing.” Bitter over his dis­
charge from the Army years 
earlier for ineptness, James de­
spised authority, John Ray 
said. But he was motivated by 
something else. “Money is an­
other part of it,” Ray said.

Testing Ray’s accounts can 
be a tricky job.

He peppers his stories with 
names and vivid recollections. 
With a pen, he drew a floor 
plan of Wortman’s East St. 
Louis premises that was judged 
accurate by locals familiar 
with the property. But it’s not 
surprising that the Rays, who 
frequented the river towns on 
both sides of the Mississippi 
and pulled numerous crimes in 
them, would have been familiar 
with Wortman’s place.

“Anybody who lived in this 
area and was interested in the 
night life went to East St. 
Louis,” said local historian Bill 
Nunes. He said the town was 
“wide open” then for all-night 
drinking, gambling and pros­
titution.

. . . (John Ray) is an 
eccentric man who 
alternately calls 
himself “Sheriff 
Shamrock” and 
“Bloody Jack. ” He 
sports a baseball cap 
featuring a gold law 
enforcement-style star 
and the words “Sheriff 
of the North Pole. ”

John Ray’s account of the 
prison escape also bears exam­
ination.

A Chicago woman who 
rented James a room a week 
after the escape told author 
William Bradford Huie in 1968 
that Ray “had foot trouble 
when he came here. He could 
hardly walk for several days.” 
The account seems to support 
James Ray’s contention he had 
walked for days along railroad 
tracks.

Investigator Baetz said he 
believes Ray didn’t meet up 
with John immediately and did 
have to walk before his brother 
picked him up.

Had John Ray admitted in­
volvement in the escape to



Rpngress in 1978, he wouldn’t 
ave faced criminal liability 
because the statute of limita­

tions for aiding an escape had 
expired in 1970.

Either way, some see sinister 
connections in the Ray family’s 
efforts to distance themselves 
from James’s pre-assassination 
activities.

HSCA established links 
among the Ray brothers in the 
weeks before King’s murder. 

' Among them, James Ray told a 
Birmingham gun salesman that 
his “brother” had advised him 
on the purchase of the rifle.

John and James Ray, both 
convicted felons who couldn’t 
vote, also became active after 
the escape in grass-roots activ­
ity in the presidential cam­
paign of Alabama’s segrega­
tionist governor, George Wal­
lace. From Los Angeles, James 
helped register voters for Wal­
lace, while John, then running 
a tavern in St. Louis, distrib­
uted Wallace campaign litera­
ture. John Ray now says he did 
so only because of pressure 
from local police who sup­
ported Wallace.

John’s Grapevine Tavern 
was across the street from a 
house frequented by Wallace 
supporters, including segrega­
tionist patent attorney John 
Sutherland. FBI reports 
showed Sutherland allegedly 
offered a criminal $50,000 in 
1966 or ’67 to have King killed. 
Individuals linked to that offer 
also had connections to the 
state prison where James Ray 
served time. John Ray said he 
never knew Sutherland and 
had no involvement in a right­
wing conspiracy to kill King.

Still, Baetz said John Ray’s 
account presents a “valid lead” 
for the Justice Department but 
cautioned that Ray often “in­
tertwines fact and fiction.” He 
said he’s skeptical because Ray 
is omitting any admission of 
involvement in King’s murder.

“He’s got a kernel of credi­
bility there because he is fi­
nally admitting and putting 
James in it,” he said.

Garrow said Justice officials 
should at least listen to Ray 
and administer a lie-detector 
test.

His claims have “at least fa­
cial plausibility. ... And in the 
King case, facial plausibility 
has been in short supply.”

To reach reporter Marc Per- 
rusquia call 529-2545 or E-mail 
perrusquia@gomemphis.com
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WHATEVER element of mys­
tery still clouds the assassina­
tion of Dr. Martin Luther King 
Jr. 30 years later is unlikely to 
be swept away by a fifth govern­
ment investigation into the mur­
der, just ordered by Atty. Gen. 
Janet Reno.

Such prospects certainly are 
not aided by the announced 
focus of the “limited” probe. It 
includes highly dubious conspir­
acy claims by a former Mem­
phis cafe owner whose story 
keeps changing, and a former 
Federal Bureau of Investigation 
agent who says he pocketed in­
criminating evidence from as­
sassin James Earl Ray’s car and 
didn’t tell anyone about it for 
three decades.

Why follow up on stories that 
have been discredited? Dr. 
King’s family, shortly after 
Ray’s own recent death, ex­
pressed concern about persist­
ent conspiracy tales during a 
meeting with President Clinton 
— who out of “enormous re­
spect” for the family turned the 
matter over to Reno for review.

King’s widow, Coretta Scott 
King, had wanted a much more 
sweeping probe. Reno pledges 
that investigators from the Jus­
tice Department’s civil rights di­
vision will follow the facts wher­
ever they lead.

If this investigation is indeed 
going to be more than a pro 
forma, politically tainted accom­
modation of a revered victim’s 
survivors, a more productive 
route into conspiracy theory 
might lead to the family of 
James Earl Ray.

Shelby County Dist. Atty. Gen. 
Bill Gibbons recommended last 
week that Reno should deter­
mine whether Ray’s brothers 
had any involvement in the kill­
ing, as has long been claimed by 
a variety of investigators. Both 
the talkative Jerry Ray and the 
formerly silent John Ray have 
denied such involvement.

But in an eight-hour interview 
last month with Commercial Ap-
peal reporter Marc Perrusquia, 
John Ray finally admitted help­
ing brother James escape from a 
Missouri prison prior to the 
King murder. He says his 
brother was involved in King’s 
death and another racially moti­
vated murder, and has offered to 
tell all for a “six-figure” pay­
ment, now that James is dead.

Authorities seem as skeptical 
of tales by this career criminal 
as they are those of his loqua­
cious brother Jerry. And John 
Ray may more readily deserve 
prosecution for obstruction of 
justice than a cash payoff if he 
really has concealed knowledge 
about a murder.

At any rate, the Ray Drotners 
seem more likely to know about 
the King assassination than the 
two men whose conspiracy tales 
are being checked out. Cafe 
owner Loyd Jowers once 
claimed to have received 
$100,000 to arrange King’s mur­
der, and later told the King fam­
ily that Memphis police officers 
planned the killing in his restau­
rant.

Donald Wilson, who was a 
rookie FBI agent when King was 
killed and is now a Chicago-area 
businessman, said last March
that he found slips of paper in 
Ray’s white Ford Mustang in 
1968. He claimed the scraps 
hinted at the involvement of 
others in the murder; he 
reputedly kept the papers in a 
bank vault all these years. Re­
tired agents involved in the case 
said they had never heard of 
Wilson.

It is reasonable to ask why an­
other investigation is necessary. 
Other probes left little doubt 
about James Earl Ray’s guilt.

The most likely good to come 
from such a review would be a 
final resolution of unanswered 
questions about the involvement 
of others in the assassination. If 
either of Ray’s brothers can pro­
vide credible information, here’s 
their chance.
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Shelby County Dist. Atty. Gen. Bill Gib­

bons has asked the Justice Department to 
investigate whether James Earl Ray’s bro­
thers were involved in the 1968 assassina­
tion of Dr. Martin Luther King Jr.

In a letter to U.S. Atty. Gen. Janet Reno, 
Gibbons said actions by John and Jerry 
Ray pose a legitimate mystery that should

be explored.
“I strongly urge the Justice Department 

to take a close look at the activities of 
James Earl Ray’s brothers and their possi­
ble involvement in this tragedy,” said Gib­
bons.

Reno announced last month she’s open­
ing a limited investigation into King’s slay­
ing by a sniper on April 4, 1968, in Mem­
phis. The investigation, prompted by a 
meeting between King’s family and Presi­
dent Clinton last spring at the White

House, focuses on two conspiracy claims 
that many consider dubious. Neither in­
cludes Ray’s brothers.

Gibbons’s letter, dated Sept. 3 and re­
leased Thursday, provides a formal plea to 
his earlier public comments. In the letter, 
Gibbons characterizes concerns about 
Ray’s family as “the primary unanswered 
question” behind King’s murder.

A congressional committee concluded in

Please see KING, Page A5
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1979 that James Earl A had 
voluntarily and inteBntly 
pleaded guilty to King^s mur­
der and that he was the sniper 
who shot King as the civil 
rights leader stood on the bal­
cony of the Lorraine Motel.

The House Select Committee 
on Assassinations (HSCA) also 
concluded there was a “likeli­
hood of the involvement of one 
or both brothers in the assassi­
nation.” HSCA found evidence 
during a two-year investigation 
that two St. Louis businessmen 
had offered a $50,000 bounty 
on King’s life, and investigators 
believed the Ray family may 
have caught wind of that offer.

Gibbons, who in March com­
pleted his own seven-month 
probe into conspiracy claims, 
said his office lacked the re­
sources to investigate the Rays. 
In the letter to Reno, Gibbons 
asked that the Clinton adminis­
tration “actively” support ef­
forts to unseal records from 
HSCA’s two-year King probe.

Justice Department spokes­
man Myron Marlin said Thurs­
day from Washington that 
Reno has received Gibbons’s 
letter. Officials planned to re­
view it “to determine how best 
to proceed,” said Marlin.

Reached by telephone, both 
Ray brothers denied involve­
ment in King’s murder.

“I wasn’t part of a murder 
conspiracy,” said John Larry 
Ray, 65, of St. Louis. Ray, who 
recently claimed he has infor­
mation on King’s murder that 
he’d sell to the government, 
said he was “not a bit” worried 
about an investigation: “If I 
was concerned ... I wouldn’t 
be opening my mouth. That 
would be stupid.”

Gerald ‘Jerry’ William Ray, 
63, of Smartt, Tenn., said, “I 
welcome them to look at any­
thing I ever did in my life.”

Both brothers testified in 
1978 hearings in Washington 
that they had no intimate 
knowledge of King’s shooting.

Gibbons’s request came days 
after John Ray said in a story 
published in The Comnmercial 
Appeal that he helped James 
escape from a Missouri prison 
a year before the King murder.

Authorities long contended 
John Ray aided James in his 
April 23, 1967, escape from the 
state prison in Jefferson City, 
Mo., where he was serving 20 
years for robbery. John Ray 
denied it in 1978 testimony.

He said in an interview last 
month he would tell more about 
King’s murder if the govern­
ment would pay him. The de­
tails, he said, include informa­
tion on a plot to kill King and 
about James Earl Ray’s in­
volvement in a second racial 
munier.

Amplifying tiiosj«mments 
this week, John stressed 
that his knowledge comes from 
a “confession” brother James 
made to him years after King’s 
death. James Earl Ray died in 
April of liver disease.

John Ray said James never 
admitted shooting King, yet 
gave details and the names of 
two others supposedly involved 
in the murder. The information 
is not positive proof that James 
Ray killed King, but “would en­
hance his guilt so much people 
will probably take it he’s in­
volved,” said John Ray.

He contends his brother told 
him details while both were 
temporarily housed at the 
Shelby County Jail in 1974 to 
attend a federal hearing here 
in which James Ray tried to 
have his guilty plea reversed.

Records show John and 
James were in the jail simul­
taneously for at least five days 
in October 1974. John Ray, 
then serving a federal sentence 
for bank robbery, was brought 
here by U.S. marshals and tes­
tified that his brother had been 
coerced into pleading guilty.

John Ray said he and James 
shared the same cell during his 
stay here, a claim questioned 
by retired chief jailer Harry 
Parker. “I don’t think it would 
have been possible,” said 
Parker, 69.

Another former jail official, 
however, said James and John 
Ray could have been kept in 
the same cell to protect them 
from other inmates. “That 
would have been a good place 
to put (them),” said Billy J. 
Smith, 66, who supervised 
James Ray’s 1968 incarcera­
tion at the jail and retired in 
1986. <

The Ray brothers’ knowledge 
of the assassination has long 
been a critical issue. John and 
Jerry Ray claimed for years 
they had no contact with James 
between the time of his escape 
and the assassination, although 
Jerry later admitted meeting 
with James on occassion.

The HSCA raised concerns 
about James Ray’s contacts 
with his brothers. Thrtse con­
cerns included evidence that 
Ray’s family may have fun- 
neled money to finance his 
travels through the United 
States, Canada and Mexico.

Witnesses said James Earl 
Ray mentioned a brother in 
connection with a mysterious 
trip he made to New Orleans 
shortly before King’s slaying. 
Ray also told a Birmingham 
gun dealer that “my brother” 
provided advice on the pur­
chase of the rifle used to kill 
King. James Ray also used 
brother John’s Social Security 
card and alias during his first



weeks on the 
lam.

So plentiful 
were the links 
between 
James Earl 
Ray and his 
brothers that 
the committee 
concluded 
that John or 
Jerry — or a 
composite of 
both — was

Jerry 
Ray

probably the mysterious Raoul, 
who Ray claimed had financed 
his travels and framed him for 
the King assassination. Investi­
gators never located Raoul.

Over the course of an eight­
hour interview in St. Louis last
month and in phone conversa­
tions with a reporter this 
month, John Ray has made sev­
eral puzzling comments about 
the assassination.

John Ray said he fled 
St. Louis after King was shot, 
hiding out for a few days across 
the river in East St. Louis, Ill., 
as his brother James headed
for Europe.

“I went over there because I 
didn’t know what was coming 
down,” he said, offering no fur-

John 
Ray

71 ther explana­
tion.

FBI reports 
show agents 
interviewed 
members of 
the Ray family 
the day James 
was identified 
as a suspect in 

I King’s mur- 
d e r , yet 
couldn’t locate 
John for an­

other three days.
The HSCA concluded that, 

while the FBI conducted a 
thorough hunt for King’s killer, 
it failed to conduct an adequate 
conspiracy investigation. For 
one thing, it failed to check 
John Ray’s alibi on the day of 
the murder.

John Ray’s recent claims 
have driven a wedge between 
the two surviving brothers, 
who long contended publicly 
that James Earl Ray was 
framed.

“That’s all bull,” said Jerry 
Ray, calling John’s claims 
“crazy talk.” “The only thing 
that it does is put the heat on 
everybody.”

Jerry Ray, who forged an al­

liance last year with King’s 
family and has met several 
times with King’s son, Dexter, 
said John Ray is just trying to 
make a buck. However, Jerry 
did confirm that John aided in 
James’s escape.

“John did go pick James up, 
that’s true,” Jerry said. Author 
George McMillan said in a 1976 
book that Jerry told him John 
helped James escape and then

drove him to Chicago, but when 
government investigators 
began asking questions, Jerry 
denied that, too.

Credibility is a concern for 
John and Jerry Ray, both ex­
convicts who’ve given conflict­
ing accounts through the years.

But John Ray, convicted in 
the past of bank robbery, bur­

glary and auto theft, insists he 
has evidence to back his claims 
and said he’ll take a polygraph.

“He (Jerry) is the one who 
don’t know anything,” John 
said. “Nobody has told him 
anything. He’s gabby.”

To reach Marc Perrusquia, 
call 529-2545 or send E-mail to 
perrusquia@gomemphis.com
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Jowers seeks 
suit dismissal 
in King case

Former Memphis cafe owner 
Loyd Jowers has asked a judge 
to dismiss a lawsuit filed by Dr. 
Martin Luther King Jr.’s family 
alleging Jowers was involved 
in a conspiracy to assassinate 
the civil rights leader.

King’s family filed a wrongful 
death suit this month in Shelby 
County Circuit Court after 
Jowers told them in videotaped 
meetings that he had intimate 
knowledge of King’s 1968 mur­
der in Memphis. Jowers has 
said publicly he was involved 
in King’s murder, but his ac­
counts have Varied with differ­
ent tellings.

Filing a written response to 
/he suit Tuesday, Jowers de­
fied any involvement in a plot 
“to kill King, but said “other 
persons” may have been in­
volved. Jowers “reserves his 
further pleading to identify ad­
ditional co-defendants, when 
they are known,” attorney 
Lewis Garrison said in the re­
sponse filed on Jowers’s behalf.

The response also seeks to 
dismiss the suit on grounds it is 
barred by statutes of limita­
tions.

An investigation this year by 
Dist. Atty. Gen. Bill Gibbons 
concluded Jowers’s claims 
weren’t credible. His claims 
are under reView by the Jus­
tice Department.
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SKing family wants 
•his clothing back
* The family of Dr. Martin 
♦Luther King Jr. is seeking the 
^return of personal effects and 
*clothing that the civil rights 
Meader possessed when he was 
Assassinated here in 1968. x 
* A motion filed in Criminal 
Court seeks the black business 
jsuit that King wore when he 
*was shot by a sniper April 4, 
J1968, while standing on the bal­
cony of the Lorraine Motel. 
*The motion also seeks a stained 
O’-shirt, handkerchief, socks, 
^loafers and other items still 
slocked in an evidence vault 
there.
| No hearing date has been set.
C The motion was filed by law- 

rers Wayne Chastain and Wil­
iam Pepper on behalf of king’s 

widow, Coretta Scott King, and 
the Kings’ four children. Chas­
tain and Pepper also repre­
sented James Earl Ray, King’s 
Confessed assassin. Ray died 
Mast year of liver disease. * 
| — Marc Perrusquia <
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Dr. King trial testimony 
uncovering missing links
by Tony Jones
Tri-State Defender Staff Writer

Dexter King says he is amazed at the amount of untold in­
formation which has come forth in the trial of Lloyd Jowers, 
who is facing a civil suit brought by the Kings naming him 
as a conspirator in the murder of their father and patriarch, 
Dr. Martin Luther King Jr.

In a virtual rewriting of history, the trial to decipher Jow­
ers’ involvement in the alleged human mechanism that actu­
ally triggered the murder of the fabled champion for African- 
American civil and economic rights in the court of Judge 
James Swearengen.

Jowers, an Arkansas citizen, has come forth to officially 
testify that he was a middleman in a conspiracy allegedly 
linking now-deceased Memphis businessman Frank Liberto, 
the Mafia, possibly several offices of the federal government

in a cover-up by the Memphis Police Department. Jowers 
owned the rooming house and bar from which James Earl 
Ray supposedly fired the shot that killed King.

According to Jowers’ attorney Lewis Garrison, he had 
sought the King family’s assent to meet with Jowers for many 
years, but it was only recently that the family had become re­
ceptive.

“I’m more certain than ever that there was a conspiracy in 
the killing of Dr. King,” said Garrison. “I think Mr. Jowers 
played a very small part in it and that he’s been honest with 
the family in telling what he knows and they appreciate it. It’s 
taken probably close to 10 years to get a meeting with them. 
I’ve been representing him for more than 25 years and I be­
lieve him.”

Garrison said Jowers “was given some money to pick up 
from Frank Liberto. He had done it before and had no knowl-

/
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edge that Dr. King was the target. He 
had done this before many times.”

One theory still unresolved is that 
Liberto was allegedly a link between 
Mafia sources in New Orleans that 
arranged the murder.

At press time Wednesday, Dexter 
King had given testimony about his 
feelings of whether President Lyn­
don Johnson could have been in­
volved in a plot to kill his father.

The questioning attorney said that 
he had made the statement in a 
movie, but King said that his state­
ment was edited incorrectly. Para­
phrasing his answer, he said, “I did 
not state that I believed President 
Johnson had direct knowledge, but 
that if there was a high level of gov­
ernment involvement, I stated that it 
would seem impossible for him not 
to have knowledge of such a level of 
involement. It is a known fact that 
the FBI was actively involved in a 

. surveillance campaign against him.”
King says the number of witnesses 

with fresh information has been

tion corroborating Jowers’ involve­
ment so we thought it best to move 
forward.”

Surprisingly, he does not want the 
sealed official record of the assassi­
nation and investigation revealed. 
“I’m not so sure that opening the 
files is the solution. My biggest fear 
and my family’s concern is that once 
this information gets out, right, 
wrong or indifferent, it would be­
come sensationalized. You will have 
historians and scholars debating this 
for decades, like the Kennedy assas­
sination. But unlike the Kennedy as­
sassination we have living witness­
es. People have been sent to the elec­
tric chair for much less.”

Ultimately, “I would like the jury 
to rule in our favor and find Mr. 
Jowers liable for his part and ulti­
mately that the truth will be in the 
permanent record for all to see. This 
theory of the shot coming from the 
window just didn’t happen.”

amazing. “I just hope that there is 
not so much information that it be­
comes overwhelming to the jury. I 
have been following this for three 
years and J feel overwhelmed at 
times, so I can imagine how it must 
feel to people just becoming aware 
of it. There have been more than 70 
people that have come forth with 
documentation and testimony that 
had never been heard before.”

He says that he believes Jowers. “I 
have to go with my gut instinct in 
many of the cases of people offering 
information. I have a background in 
criminal justice1 and from working , 
with inmates for 24 hours around the ‘ 
clock I can tell when someone is try­
ing to con me. A lot of that you can’t 
quantify.”

King says he was skeptical of ' 
Jowers initially. His attorney ( 
William Pepper, author of A Time To 
Kill, the latest book considered cred- ' 
ible in uncovering the truer facts of 
the assassination, helped sway his 
misgivings. “I was very much skep­
tical of Jowers. Why would he be

| telling me this? Why would he be 
coming forth at this time? But Attor­
ney (William) Pepper had informa-

Attorney William Peeper escorts Dexter King from 
the courtroom following his testimony. (Photo by 
Glen Yaun)
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Conspiracy in King 
slaying, jury rules
Says government, cafe owner involved

By Bill Dries 
and Marc Perrusquia 
The Commercial Appeal

A Circuit Court jury found 
Wednesday that onetime down­
town cafe owner Loyd Jowers 
and the government at several 
levels conspired to assassinate 
Dr. Martin Luther King Jr.

The jury took less than an 
hour and a half to reach its 
verdict in the wrongful death 
lawsuit and award $100 in dam­
ages to King’s family. The fam­
ily filed the civil lawsuit 
against the 73-y ear-old Jowers 
in October 1998.

No branch of the government 
is specifically held liable in the 
verdict. The decision carries

no criminal charges or penal­
ties and does not reverse 
James Earl Ray’s 1969 guilty 
plea to the assassination.

Jowers was not in the court­
room. He missed much of the 
trial because of health prob­
lems. He was excused from at­
tending the trial after a doctor 
said he suffers from “severe 
cerebral arteriosclerosis.”

In 1968, Jowers owned a grill 
on the ground floor of the South 
Main rooming house where the 
shot that killed King was fired. 
He claimed in a 1993 ABC-TV 
interview that he played a part 
in a conspiracy to kill King, 
and was handed the still smok­
ing gun by the assassin.

King’s son Dexter and former 
King aide Andrew Young testi­

fied that Jowers told them the 
same story in two meetings — 
both recorded. His story has 
varied in recent years. Jowers 
had earlier denied any involve­
ment, and still later took the 
fifth amendment when ques­
tioned under oath for deposi­
tions.

Onto that story, William Pep­
per, attorney for the King fami­
ly, grafted theories about gov­
ernment involvement that went 
beyond surveillance of King 
that federal officials acknowl­
edged in the aftermath of the 
Watergate scandal of the 1970s.

Dexter King claimed the ver­
dict rewrites history and closes 
a legal chapter on the case as

F 3 I 3 0-



far as the family is concerned.
“I think that this is history 

being created,” King told re­
porters as he left the court­
house. “Anyone who would 
question whether the truth 
would come out, this is the last 
form of democracy that’s still 
alive where you have inde­
pendent jurors rendering a 
verdict. So, we’re very happy.”

Lewis Garrison, attorney for 
Jowers, said the verdict con­
firms in a general way what 
many Americans have sus­
pected for decades, but 
downplayed his client’s role in 
any conspiracy.

Garrison said, “I don’t think 
anything’s changed. We’ve 
thought all the time that the 
government was involved 
along with the police depart­
ment. The jury agrees with 
that.”

In many cases, witnesses, 
whether testifying from the 
witness stand or by depositions 
that were read in court, gave 
conflicting accounts of their ac­
tivities.

King’s other son, Martin 
Luther King III, attributed the 
changes to intimidation and 
threats either from govern­
ment sources or individuals.

“I don’t know how a jury 
reconciles it,” he said during a 
break in testimony Tuesday. 
“There are people who are 
threatening people’s lives. It’s 
very, very serious. I think any 
human being would be inclined 
to change what they said as 
factual if they were threatened 
by different elements.”

Two jurors said they had no 
problems reconciling what 
they heard.

“It was a cut and dry case ... 
There were a lot of people in­
volved — everyone from the 
CIA, military involvement in it, 
Jowers was involved in it, I 
felt,” said juror David Morphy 
as he left the courthouse.

“I felt the same way,” said 
juror Robert Tucker. “Even 
though Jowers may not have 
knowingly knew that that is ex­
actly what he was doing, he had 
a part in it. He handled the 
money. He handled the guns.”

Others on the jury of eight 
men and four women, which 
was split evenly along racial 
lines, declined comment as 
they left the courthouse.

An investigation by the 
Shelby County District Attor­
ney General’s Office found last 
year that Jowers’s accounts 
weren’t credible and likely 
were motivated by a desire to 
make money from a book or 
movie deal.

John Campbell, the state 
prosecutor who fought Ray’s 
many attempts for a new trial 
prior to his death in prison last 
year, said he believes the ver­
dict was based on a one-sided 
presentation of evidence.

“What does a jury do under 
those circumstances when ev­
erybody agrees, and all they 
want the jury to do is just basi­
cally approve it,” asked 
Campbell, who did not partici­
pate in the trial.

“They’ve been provided a 
very narrow view of Dr. Pep­
per’s conspiracy theory. They 
have not seen all the warts. 
They have not seen a lot of the 
conjecture that came up in ’93 
and ’94 with witnesses who ap­
parently were not called at this 
trial.”

The burden of proof in civil 
cases is riot “beyond a reasona­
ble doubt,” the standard in 
criminal cases.

In civil cases, the plaintiffs 
must prove their case with a 
“preponderance” of the evi­
dence — whether something is 
“probably true” and “more 
likely true than not true,” ac­
cording to instructions to the 
jury read by Judge James 
Swearengen before they began 
deliberations.

Dexter King, who was the 
only member of the King fam­
ily in the courtroom for the 
verdict, showed no reaction as 

I the verdict was read, but later 
hugged Pepper, the attorney 
for the family and former at­
torney for Ray.

King said before the verdict 
that his family would not pur­
sue court action against the 
government if the jury found 
in their favor.

“This is kind of a final chap­
ter ... as far as legal remedies 
go. We hope to put this* behind 
us and move on with our lives. 
This is a time for reconcilia­
tion, healing and closure,” he 
said.

The $100 was a token amount 
suggested by the King family 

; that both sides in the lawsuit 
agreed to. King said the money 
will be donated to some kind of 
welfare fund for sanitation 
workers represented by the 
American Federation of State, 
County and Municipal Employ­
ees. The union represented 
striking sanitation workers in 
1968, when King came to Mem­
phis in their behalf.

Garrison never specifically 
denied that his client was in­
volved in a conspiracy and said 
in opening statements that he 
agreed with 80 percent of Pep­
per’s case. Unlike Pepper, he 
stressed his belief that Ray 
was involved because he was 
continually evasive when 
asked questions about specific 
aspects of his journey to and 
from Memphis in 1968.
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THE BURLESQUE of the law 
that ended in a Shelby County 
courtroom this week had noth­
ing to do with a search for “the 
truth” about the assassination of 
Dr. Martin Luther King Jr. in 
Memphis 31 years ago. It is 
more likely to retard than to ad­
vance that goal.

A Circuit Court jury’s verdict 
that the civil rights leader’s 
slaying was the product of a vast 
conspiracy defies the compelling 
findings of numerous previous 
investigations — federal, local 
and private. Their conclusions: 
A racist criminal named James 
Earl Ray murdered King. The 
confessed killer committed that 
heinous deed alone. Even though 
Ray recanted his confession, 
federal and state courts have up­
held his conviction eight times.

None of the “evidence” pres­
ented at the three-week civil 
trial — much of it self-contradic- 
tory and based on hearsay — 
credibly challenged those deter­
minations. After the verdict, one 
of the jurors called the case 
before the jury “cut and dried.” 
In fact, the jurors were given 
nothing much to decide.

Jury trials are supposed to be 
adversarial proceedings, in 
which truth emerges from ju­
rors’ careful consideration of 
competing arguments and theo­
ries offered by opposing coun­
sel. If the King trial exposed any 
apparent conspiracy, it was be­
tween the lawyers for the plain­
tiff and the defense, who essen­
tially sought to persuade jurors 
of the same thing.

King’s widow and children last 
year filed a wrongful-death law­
suit against Loyd Jowers, the re­
tired owner of a downtown cafe. 
Jowers claimed in a television 
interview in 1993 that a Mem­
phis produce dealer had paid 
him $100,000 to hire an assassin 
other than Ray.

Jowers, who previously denied 
’ involvement in King’s death, has 
repeatedly changed his story, in­
cluding the identity of the gun­
man. He flunked a nationally tel­
evised polygraph test. Local 
prosecutors accused him of 
seeking to turn a buck by ped­
dling his tale. In the end, jurors 
in the suit against Jowers — who 
didn’t testify — awarded the 
King family the damages it 
asked for: $100.

Despite the inconsistencies in 
Jowers’s account, King’s survi­
vors and their opportunistic law­
yer, William Pepper, used his 
lurid yarn as a vehicle to ad­
vance their own conspiracy 
claims. And Jowers’s lawyer 
said he accepted “80 percent” of



Pepper’s theories, agreeing 
there was a conspiracy but dis­
puting the extent of his client’s 
participation in it.

Pepper represented Ray in his 
unsuccessful bid for a new trial 
before he died in prison last 
year. The lawyer alleged at the 
civil trial that the conspiracy 
connected Jowers to the federal 
government, the Memphis Po­
lice Department and the State of 
Tennessee. At other times he has 
named the FBI, the CIA, the U.S. 
military, news media, sup­
porters of the Vietnam War and 
opponents of civil rights in his 
catalog of plotters.

King’s family says it hopes that 
this week’s verdict will force a 
new investigation of the assassi­
nation. Family members say 
they want history books to adopt 
the conspiracy theory reflected 
in the verdict.

But a Justice Department offi­
cial said Thursday that a nearly 
completed review of King’s 
death by the department’s civil 
rights division is not likely to 
result in criminal prosecution. 
That investigation, ordered last 
year by Atty. Gen. Janet Reno, 
includes an examination of 
Jowers’s claims.

Certainly King’s family has 
every reason to mistrust the 
FBI, given the bureau’s loath­
some harassment of King at the 
direction of J. Edgar Hoover. 
The bureau still needs to be 
called to account for that mis­
conduct, but the embrace of in­
credible conspiracy theories 
will not bring that about.

The government ought to re­
spond to this week’s verdict — 
not to affirm it, but to refute it. 
For example, it is time for the 
release of sealed documents re­
lated to the 1979 report of the 
House Select Committee on As­
sassinations. Those papers could 
help shed light on allegations 
that Ray’s brothers were some­
how involved before or after the 
assassination, and that Ray had 
hoped to collect a bounty placed 
on King’s life by white suprema­
cists in St. Louis.

Dr. King’s murder traumatized 
the nation and dealt a grave set­
back to the crusade against rac­
ism and poverty that he had led. 
It also cast a shadow on Mem­
phis from which the city has not 
fully emerged more than three 
decades later.

Family members say they hope 
this week’s verdict will allow 
them and the nation to “move 
on.” Sadly, though, it seems 
more likely to contribute to fur­
ther darkness about the King 
murder than to dissipate it.
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By Marc Perrusquia
The Commercial Appeal

Finally, Loyd Jowers is be­
lieved.

For six years, the former cafe 
owner claimed in ever-evolving 
accounts that he knew of a plot 
behind the murder of Dr. Mar­
tin Luther King Jr..

He persisted, even after fail­
ing a nationally televised lie­
detector test and facing allega­
tions in a government report 
that he’d dreamed up his story 
in the hope of making a buck.

On Wednesday, 12 people 
agreed with him. A Shelby 
County Circuit Court jury 
found that Jowers and “un­
known conspirators” Within the 
government were liable for 
King’s April 4, 1968, assassina­
tion in Memphis.

Jowers, 73, never testified

Loyd 
Jowers
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Submitting Office: Memphis
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and wasn’t 
present for 
the verdict. 
Frail-looking 
and rail thin,
Jowers sat through early parts 
of the trial but reportedly was 
too ill to continue making ap­
pearances in court.

Conspiracy theorist and law­
yer William Pepper, who con­
vinced the King family to file 
its wrongful death suit against 
Jowers, claimed the verdict as 
validation of his contention 
that King’s murder was the re­
sult of a sweeping conspiracy 
involving the federal govern­
ment, Memphis police and 
Mafia figures.

Prosecutors responsible for 
keeping confessed assassin 
James Earl Ray in prison until 
his death last year, watched the
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civil trial from afar and called 
it a one-sided affair. It featured 
witnesses passing on second- 
and third-hand hearsay with 
little cross-examination from 
Jowers’s lawyer, Lewis Garri­
son, they said.

So, can Jowers be believed? 
What follows is a summary of 
his claims and contradictions 
through the years:

April 4,1968: Jowers tells po­
lice shortly after the 6:01 p.m. 
assassination that he knew 
nothing about the shooting. At 
the time, he operated Jim’s 
Grill, a South Main Street cafe 
below the rooming house from 
which prosecutors believe Ray 
fired the rifle that killed King. 
Jowers said he heard a noise 
that “sounded like something 
that fell in the kitchen.”

Feb. 10, 1969: One month

before Ray pleaded guilty, the 
District Attorney General’s Of­
fice learns of a witness who 
alleged that Jowers was in­
volved in King’s murder. Betty 
Spates, a waitress at Jim’s 
Grill, claimed Jowers found a 
gun behind the cafe and may 
have shot King. Two days later, 
Spates told prosecutors she 
was offered $5,000 to make up 
the story. Spates said the bogus 
tale originated with King sup­
porters.

Dec. 16, 1993: Jowers tells 
ABC news reporter Sam 
Donaldson in a nationally tele­
vised interview that he re­
ceived $100,000 from now-de­
ceased Memphis produce 
dealer Frank C. Liberto to ar­
range King’s murder. The FBI 
had investigated and dis­
counted in 1968 a tip involving 
Liberto. A congressional com­
mittee that re-examined King’s 
murder a decade later con­
cluded in a published report in 
1979 that Ray shot King and 
that there was no merit to alle­

gations regarding Liberto and 
numerous other conspiracy ac­
counts.

Dec. 19, 1993: Frank Holt, a 
homeless fruit-picker whom 
Jowers said he had paid to 
shoot King, denies any involve­
ment. The Tennessean newspa­
per in Nashville reported that 
it found Holt in Florida and 
gave him a lie-detector test, 
Which he passed.

Jan. 25, 1994: Spates tells the 
Tennessee Bureau of Investiga­
tion that money motivated her 
renewed claims that she’d seen 
Jowers enter the back of the 
cafe with a rifle in 1968. “Loyd 
Jowers and his attorney, Lewis 
Garrison, said I blew $300,000 
in royalties we could have 
split” by sticking with the sto­
ry, Spates said in a sworn affi­
davit.

September 1995: Ray’s law­
yer, William Pepper, claims in a 
book that Jowers was swept up 
in a wide government conspir­
acy to kill King. Pepper wrote 
in Orders To Kill that a former



Memphis police officer under 
hypnosis retrieved repressed 
memories, including the name, 
Earl Clark, a deceased police 
captain. Jowers would name 
Clark as the triggerman in sub­
sequent accounts. '

March 27,1997: Persuaded by 
“new evidence” from Pepper, 
King’s younger son, Dexter, 
meets with Ray in prison and 
tells him he believes Ray is 
innocent.

March 27, 1998: The Shelby 
County prosecutor’s office con­
cludes after a seven-month 
probe that there is no credible 
evidence to support Jowers’s 
claims. Jowers’s story appears 
to have been motivated by a 
desire to make money, the in­
vestigation found. A final 
report said Jowers took a “very 
active role in getting people to 
make statements that implicate 
him?’

April 22, 1998: Prime Time 
Live, the ABC network news 
show that first aired Jowers’s 
account in 1993, reports that

Jowers failed 
a lie-detector 
test. Jowers’s 
latest account, 
which he 
shared in two 
meetings with 
the King fami­
ly, is that a po­
lice officer 
shot King 
from behind 
Jim’s Grill, 
then handed 
the still-smok-

Martin
Luther King Jr?

ing rifle to Jowers.
Aug. 26, 1998: U.S. Atty. Gen. 

Janet Reno announces she is 
opening an inquiry into claims 
by Jowers and a retired FBI 
agent who offered separate de­
tails about a possible plot. The 
inquiry, which remains open; 
came after a personal plea by 
King’s widow, Coretta Scott 
King, to President Clinton.

Oct. 2, 1998: King’s family 
files a wrongful death suit 
against Jowers in Shelby 
County Circuit Court.
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By Marc Perrusquia 
and Bill Dries

The Commercial Appeal

Emotions bubbled and opin­
ions differed widely Thursday, 
a day after a Shelby County 
jury decided there was a gov­
ernment conspiracy behind the 
1968 assassination of Dr. Mar­
tin Luther King Jr.

In Atlanta, King’s family em­
braced the verdict as a long- 
awaited moment of truth and

closure, while others ques­
tioned the legal soundness of 
the 3 Va-week civil trial in 
Shelby County Circuit Court.

“It certainly has made the 
Tennessee state judiciary look 
like a laughingstock,” said 
King biographer David J. Gar­
row.

The trial, which featured 
rampant hearsay and several 
claims that had been discred­
ited in past investigations, will 
have “zero” impact on history, 
Garrow said.

A Justice Department lawyer, 
meanwhile, said he expects 
that no criminal prosecution 
will result from an ongoing in­
quiry that Atty. Gen. Janet 
Reno launched last year into 
lingering conspiracy claims 
surrounding King’s April 4, 
1968, shooting in Memphis.

Several months before filing 
a wrongful death lawsuit 
against former Memphis cafe 
owner Loyd Jowersand “un­
known conspirators” last year, 
King’s widow, Coretta Scott
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King, asked President Clinton 
to reopen the probe into her 
husband’s murder. Reno 
agreed only to look into 
Jowers’s claims and those of a 
retired FBI agent.

A 12-member Circuit Court 
jury ruled Wednesday that 
Jowers and other unnamed 
persons within the U.S. govern­
ment were liable for King’s 
murder.

Jowers, 73, has claimed for 
six years that he knew intimate 
details of a plot to kill King and 
that the gunman wasn’t con­
fessed assassin James Earl 
Ray- .The jury awarded the King 
family $100, an amount agreed 
on by both parties.

The civil trial verdict allows 
the Kings and their lawyer, 
conspiracy theorist William 
Pepper, to say that a jury has 
finally declared that the “gov­
ernment” participated in the 
civil rights leader’s assassina­

tion.
Whether that assertion car­

ries any weight remains to be 
seen.

Wednesday’s verdict did not 
deal with James Earl Ray in 
any way. Ray’s bid to take back 
his 1969 guilty plea to the mur­
der ended with his death last 
year. The conviction remains 
intact.

Prosecutors, who observed 
the trial through news reports, 
called it a one-sided affair that 
lacked the adversarial contest 
of a typical civil trial. Jowers’s 
defense counsel, Lewis Garri­
son, raised few objections and 
conducted little cross-examina­
tion of witnesses.

New questions, meanwhile, 
surfaced about whether Garri­
son fought very hard to seek 
dismissal of the suit before it 
came to trial.

Although Garrison said last 
year that the King family’s 
complaint should be dismissed 
because it is barred by the stat­
ute of limitations, he didn’t file 
a formal motion or argue that 
matter in court until near the 
trial’s end.

Judge James E. Swearengen 
ruled that Garrison’s “11th- 
hour” bid came too late.

Tennessee has a one-year 
limit on filing wrongful death 
actions. The time limit doesnt 
necessarily start running from I 
date of the death, but can begm I 
when new information is dis­
covered. ...

Jowers first went public with 
his claims in December 1993,1 
when he told a network news 
show that he received $100,000 
from now-deceased Memphis 
produce dealer Frank C.l 
Liberto to arrange King’s mur-1 
der. I

Garrison said Thursday that | 
I his research showed that the
Statute of limitations issue was I 
a question for a jury to decide, I 
not a judge. He said his tuning I 
wasn’t late, either. 1

' “I couldn’t very well have I 
filed a motion to dismiss it until I 
there was some proof (evi-1 
dence entered in court), Gajj-I 
rison said. . 1

Although Garrison told the | 
iurv he agrees with “80 per-1 & of the King family’s 
claims about a conspiracy, he 
said he vigorously fought to 
show that his client wasnt a 
willing party to a plot. _ I 
' Part of the trial strategy, Gar-1 
rison said, involved calling cur-1 
rent and former prosecutors to 

। testify that they believed Ray 
Was solely responsible for 
King’s murder. But those pros­
ecutors convinced appellate 
judges to quash subpoenas that 
would have forced them to tes­
tify c J“Why didn’t they come and 
help me in this case?” Garrison



asked. “I don’t know why they 
want to hang me out to dry 
when they had a chance to 
come and testify.”

Discord surrounding the tri­
al, however, had little apparent 
impact on King’s family, who 
said the proceeding brought a 
measure of closure and justice.

“Anyone who sat through al­
most four weeks of testimony 
from 70 credible witnesses 
would know that the truth is 
here. The question is: What will 
you do with that truth,” said 
Dexter King, a son of the slain 
civil rights leader.

The jury’s finding of a con­
spiracy is not new.

A congressional committee 
concluded in 1979 that King’s 
death probably resulted from a 
conspiracy involving Ray, two 
of his brothers and two St. 
Louis businessmen who of­
fered a reward for killing the 
civil rights leader.

However, the House Select 
Committee on Assassinations 
also concluded that no federal, 
state or local branches of gov­
ernment were involved in 
King’s murder.

Finding that government

agents played a role, though 
not clearly defined, marks the 
difference between the con­
gressional conclusions and the 
jury’s verdict.

The verdict form sent to the 
jury simply asked whether 
“the government” was involved 
and did not specify a branch or 
agency or individuals.

But the jury heard lots of 
speculation about the military, 
the FBI and the Memphis Po­
lice Department from wit­
nesses called by Pepper, who 
once served as Ray’s defense 
counsel and who convinced the 
Kings to sue Jowers.

Pepper said he is not being 
paid legal fees for represent­
ing the King family. The family 
has helped pay his expenses, 
which he estimates at $50,000.

Virtually all of the major fig­
ures of the civil rights move­
ment believe a conspiracy of 
some sort possibly involved the 
government either actively or 
in the role of spying on King 
and others. But they differ on 
who might have been involved.

King aide and former Atlanta 
mayor Andrew Young testified 
that he believed Jowers was

involved in a conspiracy.
Rep. John Lewis, who 

marched with King in the 
1960s, said Thursday that a 
new, thorough investigation is 
needed.

“Who participated in the con­
spiracy and why? Did law en­
forcement agencies? Did indi­
viduals at the state level in 
Tennessee? Did members of 
the U.S. intelligence communi­
ty?” asked, Lewis (D-Ga.).

Despite lingering conspiracy 
concerns, others question the 
trial’s integrity.

Early in the trial, Rev. James 
Lawson testified that he knew 
details of a plot behind King’s 
murder.

Lawson told the jury a story 
that has become part of King 
assassination myth:

A maid overheard a promi­
nent Memphis businessman 
tell his wife at the supper table 
that King was soon to be mur­

dered.
“I won’t mention his name,” 

said Lawson, a former Mem­
phis minister who invited King 
to the city in the spring of 1968 
to support striking sanitation 
workers.

Lawson also contended he 
knew the mystery behind an­
other of the case’s legends in­
volving two white Ford Mus­
tang sports cars. Ray used a 
Mustang to flee the scene. A 
second white Mustang report­
edly was seen by some.

“I know that there were two 
white Mustangs. I’ve met the 
drivers of both of them,” Law­
son told the jury.
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By Bill Dries
The Commercial Appeal

History books won’t be re­
written and museum exhibits 

' won’t change just because a 
Shelby County jury this week 
found that there was a conspir­
acy to kill Dr. Martin Luther 
King Jr.

That’s the opinion of the di­
rectors of a national textbook 
research agency and of the Na­
tional Civil Rights Museum in 
the wake of the verdict in a 
wrongful-death lawsuit filed by 
King’s family.

The jury found that former 
cafe owner Loyd Jowers, 73, 
and “the government” were in­
volved in a conspiracy to kill 
King. It also ordered Jowers to 
pay the family $100.

The verdict did nothing to 
change James Earl Ray’s con­
viction as the assassin.

“I think that this is history 
being created,” Dexter King, 
son of the civil rights leader, 
said minutes after the verdict.

King family attorney William 
Pepper said he was going to 
suggest that the family contact 
textbook companies to urge 
them to change their accounts 
of how King’s life ended.

“The history books are not 
going to be rewritten,” said Gil­

? bert T. Sewall, director of the 
5 American Textbook Council. 
' The independent research cen­

ter, based at Columbia Univer­
; sity in New York, reviews text­
’ books and curricula — history 

and humanities textbooks in 
particular.

“There’s a lot of ground to 
cover in these books and I 
think that even the idea that 
such a jury claim would be ap­
propriate for textbooks makes 
me scratch my head.”

King’s life should be included 
in any overview, he said. But 
history texts give a broad over­
view of events that is meant to 
encourage students to explore 
topics that interest them in 
more detail.

“There can be momentary ex­
citement over a local, state or

international incident. But you 
have to ask yourself, Ts this 
something that is at the core of 
the national experience politi­
cally or economically or cul­
turally?

“This kind of detail simply 
doesn’t come into play,” he said 
of the specifics of the assassi­
nation.

Visitors’ questions about 
King’s assassination in part 
prompted the National Civil 
Rights Museum to plan an ex­
pansion that will include the 
South Main Street rooming 
house where Ray was a guest 
on April 4, 1968. The grill 
Jowers owned occupied the 
ground floor.

The museum, which opened 
in 1991, is built on the site of 
the Lorraine Motel,where King 
was staying when he was shot.

The museum expansion, 
which will include an exhibit 
on the assassination as well as 
the social events of 1968 lead­
ing up to King’s death, is sched­
uled to open in early 2001, said 
NCRM executive director 
Beverly Robertson.

“Clearly what the trial did in­
dicate is that Jowers was impli­
cated in some form of conspir­
acy, but it in no way cleared 
Ray ... so I think we will still 
deal with Ray as a part of that 
as we had always planned to 
do,” Robertson said.

“We will simply now augment 
what we were planning to do by 
adding the findings of this tri­
al.” Those findings will be part 
of an archival area. “We have 
always planned to communi­
cate information on the official 
investigations,” she said.

“More importantly, what we 
plan to deal with is the legacy 
of the civil rights movement 30 
years later ... certainly the an­
chor of the expansion for us. 
It’s what has happened and 
what has it meant for people to 
sacrifice and stand on the cour­
age of their convictions.”

To reach reporter Bill Dries, 
call 529-2643 or send E-mail to 
dries@gomemphis.com
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There are “loose ends” to be 
pursued in the murder of Dr. 
Martin Luther King Jr., but 
government involvement isn’t 
one of them, said the chairman 
of the House committee that i 
investigated his murder.

Last week, a Shelby County 
Circuit Court jury found there 
was a conspiracy to kill King 
involving former cafe owner 
Loyd Jowers and “the govern­
ment.” The jury awarded the 
King family $100 in damages 
from Jowers, who owned the 
grill on the ground floor of the 
rooming house where the shot 
that killed King was fired. i

Former U.S. representative 
Louis Stokes (D-Ohio), chair­
man of the House Select Com­
mittee on Assassinations in the 
late 1970s, said he is still sort­
ing out accounts of the testi­
mony that led the jury to find 
that there was a government 
conspiracy.

“We had enough concrete evi­
dence to effectively convict 
James Earl Ray,” Stokes said of 
the HSCA’s work. “I don’t think 
there’s anybody in the country 
that thought he was innocent 
after I finished with him on 
that cross-examination. We 
didn’t leave any doors opened, 
I think, in terms of whether the 
government was involved. I 
think we closed that door.”

The committee concluded 
King was assassinated by 
James Earl Ray as part of a 
plot that likely involved Ray’s 
brothers, Jerry and John, and 
two St. Louis businessmen, 
John H. Sutherland and John 
Kauffmann. Kauffmann and 
Sutherland, who were dead by 
the time the HSCA began its 
probe, allegedly put up a 
$50,000 bounty for King’s 
death. F 3 I DOJ



This month, the Memphis 
jury in the Jowers case heard 
testimony from former U.S. 
representative Walter E. 
Fauntroy (D- Washington), who 
headed the subcommittee of 
the HSCA that looked into the 
King assassination. Another 
subcommittee investigated the 
1963 assassination of President 
Kennedy.

Fauntroy said that, with an­
other six months of investiga­
tion, the committee “may well 
have gotten to the bottom of 
everything” but it was pres­
sured to wrap up its probe.

When Fauntroy started to 
talk about the alleged bounty 
by Kauffmann and Sutherland, 
he was cut off by William Pep­
per, attorney for the King fami­
ly.

Among the loose ends Stokes 
wanted pursued was the testi­
mony of a police informant 
who told the committee that he 
overheard conversations in a 
St. Louis motel run by Kauff­
mann about plots to kill King. 
The committee concealed the 
identity of the informant refer­
ring to him only as Witness A. 
He said he often overheard 
criminals in the motel bar say­
ing, “We can always make 
$20,000 or $30,000 for killing 
Martin Luther King ... for 
John.”

The Commercial Appeal dis­
covered in 1998 that Suther­
land had more extensive links 
to segregationists and right­
wing militants than the HSCA 
knew of in 1979. A retired Mis­
souri sheriff's deputy also con­
firmed for the newspaper in 
March 1998 that he learned of a 
possible plot by Kauffmann 
shortly after the assassination 
from Robert R. Sanders, an in-



dormant he identified as the 
‘HSCA’s Witness A.

■ The committee found a 1974 
FPI document in which Russell 
ISe’orge Byers, an ex-convict, 
tol^ agents that two St. Louis 
businessmen offered him 
money to kill King. Byers testi- 
bed before HSCA that Suther­
land made the offer and that 
^aiiffmann introduced him to 
Sutherland.
"“While we found that (the

FBI) did an excellent job in 
terms of pursuing a fugitive, 
we really raked them over the 
coals about the fact that they 
concluded right from the be­
ginning that there was not a 
conspiracy and therefore 
never conducted an investiga­
tion relative to a conspiracy,” 
Stokes said Friday. “We felt 
that that was ineffective law 
enforcement and was’ negli­
gence on their part.”

Revelations in the 1970s 
about FBI surveillance of King 
and attempts to discredit him 
have also kept conspiracy theo­

ries involving the government 
alive, he said.

“I think that the wrong deeds 
on the part of the FBI are 
something that sticks in peo­
ple’s minds even today,” Stokes 
said. “I think all of that gives 
way when people raise the 
question again. It’s easy for 
people to say maybe so. There’s 
no evidence of it, it’s just sur- 
misal.”

To reach reporter Bill Dries, 
call 529-2643 or send E-mail to 
dries@gomemphis.com
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By Earl Ofari Hutchinson

THE conclusion by a Memphis 
jury that Dr. Martin Luther King 
Jr. was the victim of a conspiracy 

seemed to vindicate those who have 
long protested that King was the tar­
get of organized crime and the gov­
ernment. .

One of those who has worked the hit­
victim angle especially hard is Wil­
liam Pepper, former attorney for 
James Earl Ray, the convicted killer 
who died in prison last year. In a civil 
suit brought by King’s family, the jury 
agreed that Ray was a Lee Harvey 
Oswald-type patsy and that the order 
to kill King came from organized 
crime figures. The most damaging 
charge by Pepper, who represented 
the Kings in this suit, was that two 
teams of Army snipers lurked outside 
King’s Memphis motel room the day 
he was killed, and they also had or­
ders to open fire on him.

Ray himself stoked the conspiracy 
flames by saying that he was framed 
and recanting his guilty plea. When 
these allegations were set against the 
backdrop of the FBI’s decade-long 
war on King and suspicions that it 
didn’t tell all in its investigation of the 
assassination, it was more than 
enough for conspiracy theorists.

Despite the Memphis verdict, the 
evidence is irrefutable that Ray was 
the triggerman. His fingerprints were 
on the alleged murder weapon. He 
was at the crime scene and he con 
fessed.



Over the years Ray told different 
people different things about his _ ac­
tivities and whereabouts at the time 
of the murder. That’s why his protests 
of innocence and frame-up a quarter­
century later sounded like a guilty 
man desperately trying to cash in on 
the notoriety of the case. <

The King family and those who sin­
cerely want to get to the 
the King murder would be better 
served by publicly campaigning tor 
the FBI to open its files, which were 
ordered sealed for 50 years by a fed­
eral court in 1977. If the court re 
fuses, then public pressure should be 
put on Atty. Gen. Janet Reno to in­

crease the scope of the limited inves­
tigation that she ordered at the behest 
of the family and appoint an inde­
pendent counsel to investigate the 
King assassination fully.

That investigation would have to 
start with the FBI. It still has not 
answered many questions about the 
secret war it waged against King 
from the late 1950s to the day of his 
murder.

According to public documents, for­
mer FBI director J. Edgar Hoover 
and the Justice Department tried to 

e King to the Communist Party. The 
assault on King was more than 
Hoover acting out his paranoid obses­
sions with a man whom he considered 
a subversive; it was a war against the 
black movement. And Hoover decided 
that the cheap and dirty way to win 
was by discrediting the most re­
spected and admired symbol of that 
movement.

FBI agents deluged King with wire­
taps, poison-pen letters, threats, 
harassment and smear sexual leaks to 
the media.

During its investigation of the assas­
sination, Hoover claimed that the FBI 
did not find a single fact to indicate 
any conspiracy; Ray was the “lone 
nut” assassin. But the many questions 
the FBI probe did not publicly answer 
about Ray’s possible links to white 
supremacist groups and the role of 
government agents who were at or 
near the Lorraine Motel the day King 
was killed have created deep public 
suspicions that Ray didn’t act alone.

THE MEMPHIS JURY didn’t un­
cover any hard proof that the govern­
ment, racist groups or organized 
crime figures directly ordered King’s 
murder. An independent probe might 
at least allay some of the lingering 
suspicions that government agencies 
didn’t tell the complete truth.

But even this wouldn’t be enough to 
absolve the FBI of its disgraceful and 
illegal campaign against King. The 
climate of suspicion and hostility it 
created toward the civil rights move­
ment made it possible for Ray to mur­
der King. And ultimately the FBI 
must share some of the blame.
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Will last week's "conspiracy" verdict change 
history — or merely feed a fiction?

I
n an act which, in the words of one 
of the victorious lawyers, could 
conceivably “change history,” or at 
least muddle it, a jury of six blacks 
and six whites took less than three hours 

last Wednesday to find that a conspiracy 
was behind the 1968 assassination here 
of Dr. Martin Luther King.

At 3:23 p.m., while almost nobody in 
the outer world was paying attention, the 
jury — arguably also a cross-section by 
gender and social class — entered the 
courtroom of Circuit Court Judge James 
Swearengen and found, for the family of 
the late Dr. King, who had filed a wrong­
ful death suit against retired Memphis 
restaurant owner Loyd Jowers. The jury 
awarded the Kings a financial sum of 
$100 — a sum they had specified in ac­
cordance both with Jowers’ indigence and 
with their own contention that justice, 
not money, was what they sought.

It was an amount so nominal that it _ 
I wasn’t even a slap on the wrist. It was so - 

meaninglessly mild, in fact, that if you 
wanted to be cynical, you could maintain 
— as some observers indeed did — that it 
was part of a prior arrangement between 
the two ostensibly litigating parties.

Consider: Lewis Garrison, the attor­
ney for defendant Jowers, and the sup­
posed point men defending Jowers 
against a conspiracy, was the same Lewis 
Garrison who, six or seven years back, was 
serving, in effect, as Jowers’ P.R. man in 
an approach to various news media on 
behalf of a conspiracy theory very much 
like the one alleged in this trial.

With Garrison’s active participation, 
in fact, Jowers did cadge an interview with 
Sam Donaldson of ABC News back in 
1993, and some footage ended up on the 

• air in which a gnarled, somewhat foggy- 
looking Jowers claimed he had been a 
middleman in a conspiracy to kill Dr. 
King. Wow!

But, as they used to say in a famous eu- , 
phemism in novels: Nothing Happened. *

Nothing happened because nobody 
else in the mainstream media could take 
it seriously. Nor could any mainstream 
legal body, notably riot the District At­
torney General’s office under John 
Pierotti or his successor, Bill Gibbons. 
Both D.A.’s investigated the charge, and 
both saw it as utterly lacking in evidence.

William Pepper, main attorney for the 
Kings in this wrongful death suit, as he 
was for the late James Earl Ray in several 
fruitless efforts to gain a new trial for the 
confessed assassin of Dr. King, next con­
ceived this ploy according to his critics: 
Sue Jowers for doing what Jowers had al­
ready claimed to do, get a jury to hear 
this bizarre contest between two sides 
both alleging the same premise, and fi- 
nally get a jury to certify some version of ■ 
that premise. Case closed. Conspiracy.

Although, both nationally and locally, 
the trial and its oudandish circumstances 
happened more or less under the radar 
screen of public attention, these were in­
deed the Believe-It-or-Not facts of the mat­

ter.
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Add to them the fact that members of the 
King family — widow Coretta, sons Dex­
ter and Martin Luther King III, daughters 
Yolanda and Bernice — had long since not 
only bought into Jowers’ fantasy but had 
also become chummy with James Earl Ray 
before he died of liver disease and remained 
friendly with Jerry Ray, a certified ex-con 
and racist like his brother.

Jerry Ray, in feet, even showed up and 
sat with the Kings in the courtroom one 
day (as he had several times when Pepper 
and company were struggling to get a new 
trial declared for James Earl Ray). Like his 
late brother (whose funeral eulogy was 
preached by the Rev. James Lawson, a civil 
rights veteran and longtime King-family 
ally), Jerry Ray is inevitably greeted and 
treated by the Kings as a certifiable victim.

Rumors persist that the King family 
is involved in a pact with filmmaker 
Oliver Stone requiring the production of 
a dramatic scenario concerning a con­
spiracy to kill Dr. King. The Kings and 
Stone deny it; it is verifiable, however, that 
they have conferred to discuss film rights.

Definitely, this is not our fathers’ 
Oldsmobile.
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longstanding testimony and bona fides 
of King friends like Memphis’ Rev. 
Samuel Billy Kyles.

Kyles was interrogated at length by 
lawyers for the Kings who seemed to be 
trying to make the case that he, too, was 
a conspirator — having in some unex­
plained manner screened for the Real 
Killer to enable a clear shot at Dr. King 
on the balcony of the Lorraine Motel, a 
black-owned local establishment where 
the famed civil rights leader and Nobel 
Laureate had come to lead a march on 
behalf of striking sanitation workers. .

According to Pepper and members of 
the King family, the assassination was 
intended as a preventive measure on the 
eve of Dr. King’s scheduled Poor People’s 
March on Washington, which he was to 
have led in the early summer of 1968.

“It was ridiculous,” said a clearly morti­
fied Kyles after the trial. The widely re­
spected Memphis minister alleged that Pep­
per had sworn enmity against him after he 
had refused to concoct false testimony dur­
ing the 1993 TV mock trial. But he man­
aged what sounded like an honest 
magnimity. “At least, if the Kings have 
reached closure, that’s worth something.”

John Campbell, the assistant D.A. 
who had carried the state’s burden dur­
ing several of Pepper’s efforts to gain a

Members of the King 

family had long since not only 

bought into Jowers' 

fantasy but had also become 

chummy with James Earl Ray 

and remained friendly with

Jerry Ray, a certified 

ex-con and racist like his 

brother.

new trial for Ray, scoffed at the conclu­
sion of the civil trial, saying there was 
“no credible evidence” of a conspiracy 
involving anyone besides Ray — much 
less an enfeebled fringe character like 
Jowers, who had operated a greasy spoon 
in the vicinity of the Lorraine (which has 
since been converted to the National 
Civil Rights Museum).

Campbell’s boss, DA.. Bill Gibbons, 
went further: “There are a lot of people, 
on both sides in this trial, who have ev­
ery reason to be ashamed of themselves.” 
Gibbons suggested that the true motive 
behind the proceedings was “to create a 
project to make money.”

On Friday in Atlanta, one day after the 
verdict here, members of the King family 
held a press conference and contended they 
needed no further investigation by the fed­
eral government or anyone else. (That was 
a good thing, in that the Justice Depart­
ment indicated it had no interest in pursu­
ing the Jowers case.) “We know what hap­
pened now,” said Dexter King.

It remains to be seen, of course, what 
sort of future exists for the scenario de­
picted in the just-concluded civil trial — 
the one that seems to satisfy Dexter King, 
if virtually no one in the media or in the 
local and national legal communities, 
where the verdict and the process itself 
were more scoffed at than not. B

(John Branston contributed to this report}



A WORD ABOUT WILLIAM PEPPER: 
An English-born barrister who had a nod­
ding acquaintance with Dr. King, he be­
gan representing Ray in 1986 but did not 
become well known until 1993> when he 
staged in Memphis a mock trial of Ray 
for television. The mock jury “acquitted” 
Ray. In 1995, Peppers book, Orders To 
Kill, alleged a conspiracy involving high- 
ranking government officials and ele­
ments of Army intelligence.

Pepper came something of a cropper 
when, appearing on the ubiquitous ABC 
network in 1997, he repeated an allegation 
from his book concerning an alleged con­
spirator who was deceased. The very much 
alive former Green Beret Billy Ray Eidson 
showed up on live TV to confront Pepper 
and has since sued Pepper for libel.

Undeterred, Pepper and various asso­
ciates — underwritten by the King fam­
ily, emotionally if not financially — went 
on to petition the Shelby County Dis­
trict Attorneys office for an investigation 
of conspiracy theories. Nothing came of 
it. The D.A. s office concluded that all 
the conspiracy claims were unsupportable 
and that Jowers himself had tried to get 
people to implicate him.

Still undeterred, Pepper launched the 
just concluded legal process on behalf of 
the Kings. He presented some 50 wit­
nesses during the 23 days of the trial to 
buttress his contention that a conspiracy 
had existed between Jowers, two other 
Memphis men, the Mafia, and agencies 
of the federal government (notably the 
Army and the CIA). Other than Jowers 
himself, all the individuals named were 
unfortunately (or conveniently) deceased.

In any case, the jury bought the theory, 
no doubt helped along by the fact that 
Garrison in his closing summation argued 
that his client — now clearly ailing from

the effects of both a brain edema and 
malnutrition and incapable of substan­
tive testimony himself — may have 
played a part in a conspiracy, if only in 
“a minor role.”

After the verdict was announced, Gar­
rison disclaimed any intent of appealing. 
Pepper, on the other hand, expressed a hope 
that the Justice Department would use the 
impetus of the verdict to launch a new in­
vestigation of the killing, and he offered 
his own voluminous files to that end.

Said Pepper after the verdict: “Today a 
jury of 12 men and women decided that 
there was a conspiracy. ... What the jury 
ruled changed history. Make no mistake 
about it!” Added Dexter King: “I’m just so 
happy to see that the people have spoken. 
... It really does show that the judicial pro­
cess works. The verdict speaks for itself.”

The contention of the plaintiffs had 
been that Jowers’ role in the assassina­
tion was that of a contact man between 
the high-level planners of the assassina­
tion and James Earl Ray, the designated 
“fall guy” who was later apprehended as 
a fugitive in Europe and convicted of the 
killing in 1969. Pepper said that Jowers 
also had the job of disposing of the ac­
tual murder weapon — a 30.06 rifle of 
the same caliber as the Remington 
Gamemaster left at the scene by Ray (at 
the time of the assassination a convicted 
bankrobber and escaped convict) but of 
different make.

Ray had pleaded guilty but kept fight­
ing for a new trial until his death last year, 
contending that he had been misled by 
his attorney at the time into making an 
inappropriate plea.

Ray is the only person so far charged 
with Dr. King’s murder. Pepper, however, 
had named three other individuals be­
sides Jowers that he said were involved 
in the conspiracy — Memphis police of­
ficer Earl Clark, Memphis auto dealer 
Frank Liberto, and New Orleans mob 
figure Carlos Marcello. All are now de­
ceased.

Among the witnesses brought to the 
stand to support the conspiracy theory 
was Memphis Criminal Court Judge Joe 
Brown, also well known as “Judge Joe 
Brown” of a widely popular syndicated 
TV show. Brown, a self-styled expert in 
ballistics, said of Ray’s 30.06 Remington, 
“This gun could not hit the broad side 
of a barn. This is not the murder 
weapon.”

Although members of the King fam­
ily and their legal team were clearly elated 
by the verdict, a sense of gloating was 
conspicuously absent from their reaction.

The tone was set early in the proceed­
ings by daughter Yolanda King, now a film 
producer in Los Angeles, who had said, 
“History needs to be set straight. I was 12 
years old when Father was shot. It took a 
huge toll for a long time. I just pretended 
he was away. You never get to the point 
that you ever get over it. This process helps 
the healing. If Jowers is found guilty, my 
faith will not allow me to feel negativity. 
He was just a part of the negative climate 
of America at the time.”

The three-week trial had received on- 
and-off attention from both the local and 
national media. It was reasonably well 
staffed, but reporters’ skepticism con­
cerning its premises was evident from the 
start, especially when the plaintiffs’ legal 
team attempted to cast doubt on the
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The former Memphis cafe 
owner who claimed to have 
hired the assassin of Dr. Mar­
tin Luther King Jr. has died in 
Union City, Tenn.

Loyd Jowers, 73, who was 
found liable along with other 
“unknown conspirators” in 
King’s 1968 assassination by a 
Shelby County Circuit Court 
jury last December, died at the 
Baptist Memorial Hospital Sat­
urday after lapsing into a
coma.

Jowers, who had been living 
in Tiptonville, had lung cancer 
and had recently suffered a 
heart attack, his longtime law­
yer, Lewis K. Garrison, said.

Jowers ran the bar and grill 
near the Lorraine Motel and 
___ _ ________ said he hired

Loyd 
Jowers

King’s assas­
sin — but not 
James Earl 
Ray — at the 
request of a 
local produce 
dealer with 
ties to a New 
Orleans Mafia 
don. Jowers 
refused to say 
more without 
a grant of im­
munity from 
prosecutors.

Jowers’s version of events 
figured prominently in Ray’s 
lawyer William Pepper’s book 
Orders to Kill, which set forth a 
massive conspiracy involving 
the FBI, local police, military 
intelligence and organized 
crime. That account caught the 
attention of the King family 
who were persuaded that it was 
true. King’s younger son, Dex­
ter, subsequently visited Ray in 
prison, embraced him and an­
nounced that he and his family 
believed Ray was innocent.

Jowers’s alleged role in the 
assassination conspiracy dates 
to within minutes of the shoot­
ing on April 4, 1968. Jowers 
operated Jim’s Grill, a South 
Main Street cafe below the

-<m-- m?



rooming house from which 
prosecutors say the fatal shot 
was fired. On April 4, he told 
police investigators he knew 
nothing of the shooting, but had 
heard a noise that “sounded 
like something that felj’in the 
kitchen.”

A month before Ray pleaded 
guilty in early 1969, after being 
held for weeks in a specially 
prepared jail cell, a waitress 
from Jim’s Grill stepped for­
ward with information that 
Jowers was involved in the 
murder and had found a gun 
behind the cafe. The waitress 
later told authorities she’d 
been paid to make up the story.

In December 1993, Jowers 
told ABC news reporter Sam 
Donaldson in a nationally tele­
vised interview that he re­
ceived $100,000 from the late 
Frank C. Liberto, a Memphis 
produce merchant, to arrange 
King’s murder. The FBI had 
investigated and discounted in 
1968 a tip involving Liberto.

A congressional committee 
reexamining King’s murder a 
decade later found that Ray 
shot King and that there was 
nothing to allegations involving 
Liberto. It said that while the 
FBI < had clearly violated his 
rights, neither it nor any other 
government agency was in­
volved in the murder.

A few days after the ABC 
interview aired, The Tennes­
sean newspaper in Nashville 
found the homeless fruit-pick­
er Jowers said he paid to kill 
King. The Florida man denied 
any involvement

Pepper’s Orders to Kill ap­
peared in 1995. In March 1998, 
the Shelby County prosecutor’s 
office concluded a seven­
month probe of the Jowers 
claims finding no credible evi­
dence supported it, and that its 
likely motivation was to make 
money.

Jowers subsquently told King 
family members that a police 
officer shot King from behind 
Jim’s Grill then handed the 
still-smoking gun to him.

In 1998, King’s widow, 
Coretta Scott King, made a per­
sonal plea to President Clinton 
to open an inquiry into the con­
troversy still swirling about 
the case three decades later, 
and in August of that year U.S. 
Atty. Gen. Janet Reno an­
nounced that a limited probe

Lewis K. Garri^f, who 
has representectfowers । 
for the past 25 years, 
said that he met with 
his client within the . 
past few weeks and 
that, at death's door, he 
was still insisting that 
he has told the truth.
into claims by Jowers and a 
retired FBI agent about a pos­
sible plot was under way. The 
results of that inquiry are ex­
pected to be released shortly.

Garrison, who has repre­
sented Jowers for the past 25 
years, said that he met with his 
client within the past few 
weeks and that, at death’s door, 
he was still insisting that he 
has told the truth.

“Nobody wanted to attach 
any truth to what he said,” Gar­
rison said. “He was doing it 
because it was right.”

Garrison said Jowers never 
benefited financially from the 
story and came forward at con­
siderable risk — including the 
possibility of being indicted 
and going to jail.

According to Garrison, Pep­
per and others convinced of a 
conspiracy, King’s planned 
Poor People’s March on Wash­
ington scheduled for later that 
spring — during an election 
year and at the height of anti­
war sentiment — was such a 
potentially historic watershed ; 
that its leader had to be 
stopped. King took time away i 
from planning the march, i 
which was to begin in Marks, 
Miss., the following month, to 
intercede in the Memphis Sani­
tation Workers strike.

Jowers will most likely end 
up only a footnote in history, 
and perhaps that’s where he 
belongs, Garrison said.

“Bear in mind, he was a very 
smalbpart,” Garrison said.

If his business hadn’t been in 
a Strategic spot, he’d never 
have been involved at all, he 
said.

“I think he was a very brave 
individual and, in time, his con­
science got to him,” he said.

Jowers requested cremation, 
but details of the arrangements 
were incomplete Sunday eve­
ning. Murphy Funeral Home in 
Martin has charge.
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A Justice Department report 
released Friday finds no credi­
ble evidence to support recent 
conspiracy claims regarding 
the 1968 assassination of Dr. 
Martin Luther King Jr. On 
Memphis. 4 ,

But the report stirs fresh 
questions about surveillance 
that federal authorities kept on 
King and other activists near 
the time of the assassination.

One former Army intelli­
gence agent told Justice inves­
tigators he climbed atop a roof 
seeking photograph opportuni­
ties of King’s visitors at the 
Lorraine Motel days before the 
civil rights leader was shot bn 
the motel’s balcony.. But the 
report concludes , that, while 
surveillance of King was re­
grettable, no reliable evidence 
exists linking the military or 
government agents to King’s 

, murder..
Overall, : Atty. 'Gen.; Janet 

Reno’s 21-month, probe knocks 
considerable 
raised by '0hk^ 
searcher William E Pepper; the fessed assassin James Earl 
late Memphis cafe owner Loyd 
Jowers; and Donald G. Wilson, 
a former FBI agent ‘

Reno launched a limited in­
quiry into Jowers’s and Wil-

KEYFIHDINGS
A 21-month Justice Depart­

ment probe of Dr. Martin 
Luther King Jr.’s 1968 assassi­
nation found that:

■ Claims of a murder plot by 
former Memphis cafe owner 
Loyd Jowers lacked credibility 
and were contradictory in “vir­
tually every key” aspect.

■ There is “nothing to sub­
stantiate” claims by former FBI 
agent Donald Wilson that he 
found papers in confessed as­
sassin James Earl , Ray’s carl 
indicating a conspiracy.

■ An Army intelligence offi­
cer said he’d planned to take 
covert pictures of King’s en­
tourage at the Lorraine Motel 
days before King’s murder, but 
investigators found nothing to , 
support claims of government 
involvement in the assassina­
tion.

Indexing:

son’s claims following personal 
pleas from King’s family to 
President Clinton in 1998.

Persuaded by Pepper, aone-
time defense lawyer for con

Ray, the Kings sought one final 
investigation into the civil 
rights leader’s April 4, 1968,



slaying outside the Lorraine/ 
nowifhe ‘National Civil* Rights 
Museum.
' After a > controversial jury ' 
verdict in Memphis in Decem­
ber, the Justice Department ex­
panded its probe, which in­
volved interviewing more than 
200 witnesses and reviewing 
records of past investigations. 
The Kings, represented by 
Pepper, won a civil judgment 
against Jowers and other “un- 
knbwn conspirators” in a trial 
criticizedbymany as lacking 
legal soundness.
j Evaluating Pepper’s trial con- 
tentibns of;a;sweeping govern­
ment conspiracy, the federal 
inquiry found no evidence to 
support any of his claims.
/‘■Critical analysis of the hear­
say allegations, particularly in 
light of significant information i 
not? introduced at the trial, also 
demonstrates that none of the 
claims -are credible,” the 
report’s four-page executive 
summary said.

Pepper could not be reached 
for comment Friday. The King 
family declined comment.
Jerry Ray, the confessed as- i 

sassin’s brother who forged a 
strange alliance with King’s 
family in recent years, told the 
Associated Press: “The Ameri- 
canpublic and the King family 
believe James was innocent, so 
it doesn’t matter to me what i 
the politicians say.” '

The inquiry, conducted by the . 
Justice Department’s civil 

^rights division, punched nu­
merous holes in Jowers’s 
claims that he’d helped ar- 

» range Kmg’s murder. ? ' . , 
’ ‘Pepper persuaded the ‘Kings 

to sue Jowers after a nationally 
televised interview in 1993 in 
whichthefprmericafe operator 
claimed he received $100,000 
from a reputed Mob figure to 
arrange \ King’s murder. In 
1968,1! Jokers ran a greasy- 
spoon restaurant below the 
South Main rooming house 
where Ray checked^in and, 
pfp|Ocutdr£/s^ 
King’s movements with binocu­
lars befqre shooting him. .» 

: Jo^brS^said1 he obtained an’ 
assassin pand it wasn’t Ray — 
for thbTjdby but changed stories 
about who the killer was.

' ^Jowersihas contradicted 
himself on yirtually every key 
contention,(including: the iden­
tity.'of th&alleged assassin; his 
role ? in ther? plot; the role' of 
others; and what happened to 
the murder weapon,” the Jus­
tice report said.

Jowers, 73, died last month 
after battling lung cancer. His 
attorney, Lewis Garrison, said 
Jowers insisted to the end he 
was telling the truth about a : 
plot to kill King.

Yet Jowers, who said he’d 
talk to prosecutors if granted ; 
immunity from prosecution, • 
rejected Justice officials who 
wanted a statement — or prof- ; 
fer — of his allegations, a 
standard step toward immuni­

ty.
“His failure to provide a prof­

fer demonstrates that he was 
imwilling to put forth a final, 
definitiveAversion ... but in­
stead ’has sought immunity 
merely to lend legitimacy to 
his otherwise unsubstantiated 
story,” the report said.

The inquiry also found “noth­
ing to substantiate” former G- 
man Wilson’s7 claim that, in 
1968, he found two slips of 
paper in.a white Ford Mustang 
that Ray abandoned in Atlanta 
hours after the assassination. 
Wilson was a rookie agent in 
the FBI’s Atlanta office when 
King was murdered.

Wilson, who told his story in 
1998 at Pepper’s urging, 
claimed : he never turned the 
evidence over to his supervi­
sors but hid it in a vault for 
years. "

One of the slips of paper is a 
partial page from a 1963 Dallas 
telephone book?‘The page in- 
cludedaphonenumber linked 
to Jack Ruby/the. Dallas strip­
club owner who in November 
1963 shot and killed Lee Har­
vey Oswald,, accused assassin . 
of President John F. Kennedy.

Rubydied.dfcancera year j 
before King’smurder.

Written ^ on the
slip was ■ the;nmne?“^ 
apparent reference to the man 
Ray daifti^^Wfaincd him. 
Ray pleaded-guilty to shooting 
King with a hunting rifle but 
later claimed he was framed by 
a man he knew drily as Raoul, a 
contention R^y maintained 
until his 1998 death in prison 
from liver disease:
' Scientific analysis of Wilson’s 
papers suggested they weren’t 
authentic, but the origin of the 

^shps couldn’t be determined, 
®W»S! 
W^fecdj^^ the pas- 
senger, < dobr ^ closed,’ riot 
WW^nedi^p^pers 
telMtpm,^ 
door. -' - ‘ - - " f

Yet, in what is certain to 
touch off another rouhdofcon- 
jecture, the inquiry/found that 
an ex-Army agent visited the 
rooftop of a fire station across 
the street from the Lorraine 
days before King’s murder. 
James Green, a former investi-; 
gator with the 111th Military 
Intelligence Group, said he arid 
anotheragent went to the sta- 
tion five days before King’s 
murder, the report said, “to 

I scout for locations to take pho- 
z tographs of ‘ persons Lvisitirig 

theKingparty;” ? 2!
Ilie agents left after about 45 h 

minutes becausethe rppf was , 
too / exposed * and . never crp- ; 
turned to the Lorraine’sryicini-1 
ty, Green told investigators. \

Speculation about a military 
conspiracy grew in 1993 when 
Stephen G. Tompkins, a former 
reporter with The. Commercial 
Appeal, wrote that, an eighty 
man Green Beret“A-Team/’’ or ■ 

■ sniper unit, was iri Memphis ori , 
“anunknown mission” near the? 
time of Kirig’s assassination. 
Other agents had a vehicle 
“crammed” with electronic 
equipment, he wrote. ; ,

Tompkins resigned froin the

*



/newspaper shortly after the ar- 
tide Appeared and assisted 
®erM 1995 b°ok. Orders

F ?" W^, which claimed the Pen- 
fetW^d i^ther federal agen- 
j^few^W kill Kingsbe- 
®sle?of ligbpposition to'th^ 
l^ietaam War. I
#A group: of retired Special 
forces soldiers later chal- 
Jengedthe pair’s accounts, pro- 
^“^ a retired ^officer who 
pepper claimed had been mins 

tjored yeats. earlier to silence 
ife ^°1- BiUy Eidson denied 
flnvolvement^ih King’s murder 
and won a settlement last year 
4rom the book’s publishers 
after a libel suit. ;
^Another investigation by The

Appeal found in 
1997 that the Army had sent 10 
or more plainclothes Agents 
1^™ the Atlanta-based 111th 
Tupbtary Intelligence Group to 
Memphis in the days before 
and after King’s murder. .

Several of the retired agents 
they saw -no Green Berets 

{here and described their mis- 
^sertionss 

f re-emphasized in the Justice 
.Department report? The report

as^Qw<ech’’^,ag^^ 
jP^P^nesarnlreliedon police 
l^b^in^rmafioh^!^'finding no" 
-^^  ̂

* R^e^O#Mempliis 

civil /unrestthat might have re- 
9uir®d f®deral troops to quell. 
a> thb^nie^of King’s murder 
Memphis was enveloped in a 
disruptive sik-week - garbage

mmkmcial Appeal

The >968 slaying of Dr. Mar­
tin Luthei^King Jr. in Memphis 
left an?indelible mark on this 
cityZ^ put ;'the case and its 
legacy in perspective, and for 
a electronic version of the Jus­
tice Departments report, visit 
www.gomemphjs.com. .. ’

workers’ strike t^at had frayed; 
nerves and stirred tempers 
among the >city’s white leaders 
and the striking workers, most 
of whom, were black.

In closing arguments in the 
Jowers trial,? Pepper told the 
jury thatetwo* men on the fire 
station roof the morning of the 
assassination’ - were? an Army 
“ p sychb 1 o gi c al; op e r a t i on s 
team”who“photographedev- 
erything throughout that day” 
right _upuntii;King’s?6:01 p.m. 

claimed the. pair even,snapped 
pictures of ah assassin, who 
wasn’t Ray, hiding inbiishes.

Justice Department lawyer 
Barry F. Kowalski/.who prose­
cuted two ’Lbs Angeles^police 
officers-forthe 1991?beatihgof 

; motorist? Rodney~King;*;headed 
the inquiry^- :4^X^Z ■ -

’The/^^
cial ®^§figtaoiftante 
muraffi®‘
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A NEW Justice Department 
report affirms the conclusion of 
four previous official investiga­
tions over several decades: No 
credible evidence supports alle­
gations of a plot to kill Dr. Mar­
tin Luther King Jr. in Memphis 
32 years ago. That finding but­
tresses the report’s recommen­
dation that a full reopening of 
the case is not warranted.

Those who are determined to 
believe that a government con­
spiracy caused the assassination 
of the civil rights leader and 
anti-poverty crusader — includ­
ing, regrettably, members of Dr. 
King’s family — are not likely to 
be mollified by the report. How, 
they ask, can the government be 
trusted to investigate itself?

But to those who are prepared 
to review it objectively, the 
report by the Justice Depart­
ment’s civil rights division 
makes a persuasive case that re­
cent conspiracy claims do not 
stand up, despite last Decem­
ber’s verdict to the contrary in a 
sham trial in Shelby County.

The report, the product of a 21- 
month investigation that in­
cluded hundreds of witness in­
terviews, determined that 
King’s confessed murderer, a 
racist criminal named James 
Earl Ray, was neither a fall guy 
nor a participant in a vast plot. A 
man named “Raoul,” whom Ray 
later insisted had framed him, 
was “merely Ray’s creation,” the 
report said. Ray died in prison in 
1998, asserting his innocence.

Similarly, the report dismissed 
the claims of Loyd Jowers, a 
Memphis cafe owner who said in 
1993 that he was part of a mur­
der conspiracy that grew to in­
clude “Raoul, the Mafia, Mem­
phis police officers, figures in­
volved in the Kennedy assassi­
nation, U.S. military personnel 
(and) African-American minis­
ters close to Dr. King.” Jowers, 
who died last month, “contra­
dicted himself on virtually 
every key point,” Justice De- 

: partment investigators said. Nor ■ 
did physical evidence support

his story, the report said.
The report found “nothing to 

substantiate” the assertions of 
former FBI agent Donald Wil­
son, who said he removed docu­
ments from a car Ray aban­
doned in Atlanta hours after the 
assassination and kept them hid­
den for 30 years, until an uniden­
tified person with alleged White 
House connections stole them. It 
notes that Wilson refused to co­
operate with the Justice Depart­
ment review even after he was 
offered immunity from prosecu­
tion, and that Ray had no mem­
ory of the papers, which suppos­
edly linked Raoul, the FBI and 
the assassination of President 
John F. Kennedy.

The most unsettling finding of 
the report is that King evidently 
was under U.S. Army surveil­
lance at the time of his death in 
Memphis. But even though such

Submitting Office: Memphis

Indexing:

spying — and FBI harassment of 
King at the instigation of J. 
Edgar Hoover — were outra­
geous invasions of King’s priva­
cy, they do not make a case for 
government participation in, or 
orchestration of, an assassina­
tion conspiracy.

The Justice Department offi­
cial who headed the investiga­
tion that produced the King as­
sassination report previously 
prosecuted Los Angeles police 
officers who had beaten motor­
ist Rodney King. Suggestions 
that the report is the result of a 
racially motivated government 
coverup simply do not add up.
If the federal report does point 

to the need for further govern­
ment action, it is for the release 
of still-secret documents related 
to the 1979 report of the House 
Select Committee on Assassina­
tions. Making those papers pub- 

| lie could do even more to debunk 
I persistent, if incredible, con­
spiracy theories. For the nation 
and especially for Memphis, 
which remains under a shadow 
from King’s death, such revela­
tions could only help.
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The verdict’s in
King lawsuit 
was a sham
■ A new report crushes 
William Pepper’s claims of 
a conspiracy in the King 
assassination, showing 
them to be reckless at best 
and, at worst, fraudulent.

“Our faith in the United States of 
America is shaken to the core”

— William F. Pepper in Orders To 
Kill, his 1995 book alleging a 
sweeping government conspiracy 
and cover-up behind the assassina­
tion of Dr. Martin Luther King Jr.
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Title: The verdict's in King 
lawsuit was a sham

By Marc Perrusquia
The Commercial Appeal

HAT a fraud.
Six months ago, conspir­

acy researcher William F. 
Pepper stood in a Memphis court­
room and announced to the world 
he’d just solved the 1968 murder of 
Dr. Martin Luther King Jr.

Pepper, a lawyer who once served 
as defense counsel to confessed 
King assassin James Earl Ray, per­
suaded King’s family to file a 
wrongful death suit against former 
Memphis cafe owner Loyd Jowers 
and other “unknown conspirators.”

Concluding a one-sided trial that 
featured rumors, tainted evidence 
and third-hand hearsay — but, 
curiously, little in way of opposition 
from the defense — a jury bought 
Pepper’s arguments:

A cabal of federal agents, mob 
figures and Memphis cops framed 
Ray in a plot mind-numbing in its 
planning, intricacy and scope.

“Make no mistake,” Pepper confi­
dently told reporters, “this verdict 
does nothing less than rewrite 
American history.”

But a new report crushes Pep­
per’s claims to fine dust, showing 
them to be reckless at best and, at 
worst, fraudulent.

After interviewing more than 200 
witnesses and inspecting thousands 
of documents over 21 months, the 
Justice Department issued a 138- 
page report that, by my count, de­
bunks no fewer than 11 of Pepper’s 
most recent assertions. Among the 
rubble are insinuations that gov­
ernment agents photographed the 
“real” assassin, that a cab driver 
witnessed the shooting and then 
was murdered himself, and that 
three religious leaders colluded in 
the plot to kill America’s most 
prominent civil rights leader.

Scientific testing, meanwhile, 
found that documents supporting 
one allegation probably had been 
forged — not a first in the Pepper 
conspiracy-claim legacy.

Thus turns another page in the 
pathetic, sordid story that started 
three years ago when Pepper, prey­
ing on the King family’s pain, suf­
fering and legitimate distrust of 
the government, persuaded the 
family to embrace his paranoid and 
convoluted view of the April 4, 
1968 assassination.

Reviewing the case two decades 
ago, a congressional committee



found that the FBI had violated 
King’s rights by bugging his hotel 
rooms and trying to sabotage his 
career. That repugnant treatment 
provides the underpinning for 
many conspiracy theories.

Yet the committee found over­
whelming evidence of Ray’s guilt, 
but no evidence of a high-level plot. 
Any conspiracy, it concluded, in­
volved Ray as the gunman, a couple 
of relatives who may have assisted 
him, and a bounty that racists had 
placed on King’s life.

Pepper keeps trying to rewrite 
that finding. Unfortunately for him, 
the Justice Department report, re­
quested by Atty. Gen. Janet Reno 
after King’s family made a per­
sonal plea to President Bill Clinton, 
unravels the latest round of con­
spiracy assertions with ease. Well- 
researched and thorough, the 
report is remarkable in its re­
strained language and evenhanded 
treatment.

Yet a careful reader will see how 
trickery and deceit were used to 
manipulate a jury, the Kings and 
the American public.

“Murdered” witness
During the trial, Pepper called 

former Yellow Cab driver Louie 
Ward, who testified to a sensational, 
and sinister, story:

A co-worker, Paul Butler, wit­
nessed the assassination while he 
was picking up a fare at the Lor­
raine Motel. There, While standing 
on the balcony, King was shot by a 
sniper. Driving Car 58, Butler also 
saw a man, supposedly the real as­
sassin, run from a bushy area be­
hind a rooming house, jump down a 
retaining wall and get into a wait­
ing police car.

Days later, Butler, too, was mur­
dered, Ward testified, apparently

“throwed out of a high-speed auto­
mobile.”

In closing arguments Pepper em­
braced the story as a smoking gun 
for cover-up. Contending the 
cabbie was killed for being “in the 
wrong place at the wrong time,” 
Pepper gave the jury copies of a 
1968 city directory that listed But­
ler’s wife, Betty, as a widow.

But Pepper didn’t tell the jury 
that he had information that Butler 
actually died in 1967, eight months 
before King was shot.

Pepper first told the Paul Butler 
story in Orders To Kill, published in 
1995 and again in 1998 by Warner 
Books, which printed the book as 
part of a deal with the King family. 
Pepper wrote that Ward came for­
ward with his account in 1994, but 
initially could not recall the assas­
sination witness’s name. Under 
hypnosis, Ward pictured a name: 
Paul. A Yellow Cab dispatcher then 
recalled that Paul Butler once 
drove for the firm.

“According to social security 
death listings Paul Butler died in 
August 1967,” Pepper noted in Or­
ders To Kill. ”He obviously could 
not have been the driver of car 58 
on April 4,1968.”

The Justice Department report 
simply notes the precise date of 
Butler’s death: Aug. 2, 1967. Obitu­
aries checked by this writer show 
Butler died on that date at Method­
ist Hospital after a five-month ill­
ness.

Hidden evidence
At a press conference in 1998, 

Pepper introduced Donald G. Wil­
son, a former FBI agent who had 
another incredible story:
‘As a rookie in the FBI’s Atlanta 
office in 1968, Wilson said, he



found — then hid — slips of paper 
from Ray’s abandoned Ford Mustang 
that seemed to point to a conspiracy. 
One of them, a partial page torn from 
a 1963 Dallas phone book, listed a 
handwritten, partial phone number 
for “Raul.” Ray long had claimed he’d 
been framed by a shadowy smuggler 
he knew only as Raoul.

Heralding the development, Pepper 
told reporters that Wilson’s paper “in- 

‘ di cates quite clearly the existence of 
the man who James Earl Ray has 
always said was his controller, his 
handler.” But during the Jowers trial 
a year later, allegations about Raul 
abounded, yet Wilson didn’t testify 
and there was no reference to his

’ papers. Why the reversal?
perhaps it was Pepper’s trial strate- 
Kgy, but more likely Wilson feared he’d 
Se prosecuted for false statements if 
^ went forward with his story.
®«By the time of the trial, scientific 
listing by the Justice Department had 
^vealed the Raul paper likely was 
manufactured. Concerns focused on a 
penciled notation, “Raul 214-”. The 
dash after 214 — an apparent refer­
ence to a Dallas area code — extended 
to the edge of the torn page as if once 

• it were linked to the rest of a phone 
; number. Microscopic analysis found 
the penciled dash extended over the 
tear.

“As a result of all the examinations 
and experiments,” the Secret Service 
found, “it can only be concluded that 
the entry (‘Raul 214-’) was placed 
after that tear.”

The “suspicious circumstances” of 
the paper suggest it “was designed to 
create the false impression that 
James Earl Ray once possessed Raul’s 
full telephone number,” the Justice 
Department report said. The docu­
ment also appeared to try to link Ray 
to Jack Ruby, who shot Lee Harvey 
Oswald in 1963, but died a year before 
King’s murder.

This is at least the second time that 
documents endorsed by Pepper as ev­
idence of conspiracy turned out to be 
bogus. Historians said in 1997 that a 
set of military orders that pur­
portedly dispatched an Army sniper 
team to Memphis on the day of King’s 
murder were fraudulent. The papers, 
reproduced in Pepper’s book, form 
the very heart of his claims and are 
the source of the book’s title, Orders 
To Kill.

Of snipers and 
photographers

Pepper claimed in his book and at 
trial that two Army cameramen sta­
tioned on the roof of the firehouse 
across from the Lorraine snapped 
photos of the killer — who wasn’t Ray 
— hiding in bushes behind the room­
ing house.

“That means, ladies and gentlemen, 
that there is a film of everything that 
happened ... buried somewhere,” 
Pepper told the jury.

Wrong again. Photographs taken by 
a newsman within seconds of the 
shooting reveal no one on the 
firehouse roof. They show police and 
fire officials pouring out of the back 
of the firehouse in response to the 
shot, but no one atop the station’s flat, 
exposed roof.

Pepper’s account does have a kernel
of truth. At trial, he called former 
Memphis fire captain Carthel Weeden, 
who said he let two Army photogra­
phers on the roof the day of the assas­
sination. Weeden later conceded to 
the Justice Department that his mem­
ory could be inexact. Government in­
vestigators located a former military 
intelligence agent who said that he 
and a second agent went onto the roof 
five days before the assassination but 
never returned.

No evidence surfaced to support 
Pepper’s claim that the two agents 
were a “psychological operations 
team” connected to the secretive 
902nd Military Intelligence Group, 
which reported directly to the Penta­
gon. Records show no one from the 
902nd was in Memphis on April 4 or 
the days before and after.

The agent on the roof was with the 
relatively boring Atlanta-based 111th 
Military Intelligence Group, which 
was assigned to monitor public rallies 
and civil unrest. Senate hearings in 
the 1970s found that military surveil­
lance at times intruded on the rights 
of private citizens, but no evidence 
surfaced of plots to kill King or other 
citizens.

Further, Pepper’s source for the 
“two men on the roof” tale now disa­
vows the information. Stephen G. 
Tompkins, a former reporter for The 
Commercial Appeal, told Justice De­
partment investigators that he ob­
tained the story from a “slimeball” 
who was asking for money, saying he 
“did not believe the account.”

Tompkins also disavowed another 
story he’d given Pepper: that an Army 
sniper team had rifles trained on King 
the moment he was shot. The story 
had caused trouble before: Two New 
York publishing houses that printed



Orders To Kill paid settlements in a 
libel suit last year after falsely impli­
cating a retired soldier in the sup­
posed plot.

Still, Pepper went forward with a 
version of the tale in the Jowers trial. 
When Tompkins refused to testify, 
Pepper, who already had the ex-re­
porter’s interview notes, introduced 
them as evidence but didn’t tell the 
jury of Tompkins’s disavowals.

The list goes on
Space doesn’t allow me to detail all 

of Pepper’s many discredited asser­
tions, but among the most significant:

■ The New York Raul: Pepper sued 
a New York man named Raul in 1995, 
fingering him as the mystery man 
who framed Ray and steered him 
around North America. The Justice 
Department found the man was sim­
ply an autoworker. Work records and 
interviews showed he couldn’t have 
been involved in the King and Ken­
nedy assassinations.

■ Immunity offers: Don Wilson and 
Loyd Jowers, now deceased, recently 
said they stood by their conspiracy 
accounts. But both rejected immunity 
offers from the Justice Department. 
As anyone savvy in criminal law 
knows, immunity offers can be a two- 
edged sword: While exempt from 
prosecution for past acts, the subject 
can be prosecuted for perjury or mak­
ing false statements if it’s proven he 
or she lied.



Photo by A.J. Wolfe

Attorney William Pepper looks on as Coretta Scott King shares a 
moment with Coby Smith, a witness in the wrongful death suit.
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Civil Rights 
Museum is 
new home

By Deborah M. Clubb
The Commercial Appeal

James Earl Ray’s voice is in 
the National Civil Rights Muse-

-um.
It’s preserved on a stack of flat 

red “45’s” recorded by a special 
machine when Ray pleaded 

j guilty to fatally shooting Dr. 
। Martin Luther King Jr.

Those recordings, along with 
Ray’s rifle, binoculars, pass­
ports, British suit, Portuguese 
hotel receipt and African air­
line brochure, were shown pub­
licly Tuesday for the first time 
outside a courtroom. The event 
signaled the formal transfer of 
the items from local govern­
ment and court officials to mu­
seum leaders.

Dist. Atty. Gen. Bill Gibbons 
and Shelby County Clerk Bill 
Key officially relinquished care 
of 39 boxes of materials that had 
been in the care of previous 
clerks and attorneys general 
for three decades.

“Rather than simply stored at 
the Criminal Justice Center, Mr. 
Key and I felt it was much bet­
ter to have them at the Civil 
Rights Museum in order to help 
the public’s understanding of 
the historic and tragic event 
some 32 years ago,” Gibbons 
said. “Now they are in the right 
place and where they need to 
be.”

Some objects and replications 
of paper items will be displayed 
when the museum expands into 
two nearby buildings, including 
the former boarding house 
from which Ray fired upon 
King. Those buildings are lo­
cated across Mulberry from the 
Lorraine Motel where King was

staying, now the site of the mu­
seum That expansion could 
open ■ * about a year.

The entire archive will be 
made available to researchers 
sometime in 2002, said the mu­
seum’s curatorial services man­
ager, Barbara Andrews. It is 
complete with_FBI and Mem­
phis Police investigation 
reports, an index of every wit­
ness interviewed and the tran­
script of Ray’s hearing leading 
to his guilty plea.

“This is a significant asset, not 
only to this museum but to the 
city of Memphis and to the 
world,” Andrews said.

A future fund-raising cam­
paign will finance adequate per­
manent storage and archiving 
of the materials, Andrews said. 
The only climate-controlled 
space in the museum is a small 
library because the facility was 
not originally envisioned as a 
research archive, she said.

The museum already has had 
international calls from re­
searchers, said museum execu- 
tive director Beverly 
Robertson.

Key, who spent hours in a stor­
age vault with Andrews to in­
ventory, box and label the mate-



rials, said he was most im­
pressed with a map Ray used to 
track the places he went to stalk 
King in the weeks before the 
shooting.

“I must say, I’m kind of glad to 
get this with you,” Key said.

The only pieces from the file 
retained by the attorney gener­
al’s office were morgue photo­
graphs of King. The civil rights 
leader’s clothing and jewelry 
were returned to his family.

Asst. Dist. Atty. Gen. John 
Campbell is eager for the public 
to see the evidence and other 
materials in the context of the 
1960s, when then-Dist. Atty. 
Gen. Phil Canale received doz­
ens of letters from people sup­
porting Ray and condemning 
his prosecution.

• “It’s obviously connected so 
totally to this facility ... to this 
building and the buildings sur­
rounding it,” Campbell said. 
“People ought to be able to come, 
in and see it and look at it and 
draw their own conclusions.”

Dr. Benjamin Hooks, museum 
board chairman, recalled the 
precautions that were taken 
when Ray was returned from 
London to Memphis as the in­
vestigation of the assassination 
continued.

“We here at the Civil Rights 
Museum will be just as careful.”




